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85 vISION

BMR2AXFRNEREEREREBE BB ESR
ERBBEARTE - LUDEE MR -

To provide full support to the Communications Authority
in fulfilling its vision that Hong Kong has the world-class
communications services to meet the challenges of the
information age.

{545 MISSION

BB —

o AR — MEMAENTENREZE

o XA —EEANNAFNRENAFRERE

o KE — HRFEBFRESENEMRNIBIMA - LXERERRE

o BT — #F—XEE BEERENTXKM  HEEXRENREREET
M ITERE

o NF — HREBYE BRI ELM

We are committed to -

e Public - Fulfilling the needs and expectations of the community

¢ Industry - Providing a fair regulatory environment conducive to innovation and
business investment

e Economy - Maintaining Hong Kong’s position as a pre-eminent communications
centre in the region to support economic development

e Staff - Maintaining a cohesive, versatile and professional team and nurturing a
working environment that recognises and rewards results

e Civil Service - Being a model department that performs effectively and efficiently

€= VALUES

o TFHEW — RFHIL  ALEN  BEEY REHE  FRES

o BEXRW — ZAAN@  RERE  BIGEE  RERST  BEMRE

s ZEMR BEAET — =HEMA BREE  BIRESE BRYER - BHEEN
o RIEEE — FEER B RAE  HERIE

¢ Integrity - Neutrality, impartiality, transparency, accountability, openness
e Professionalism - Expertise, discipline, credibility, ethics, commitment

e Respect for the Community, Clients and Staff - Freedom of expression, responsiveness,
understanding, efficiency, effectiveness

e Foresight - A proactive attitude, anticipation, awareness
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Message from the Director-General
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Introduction

| am pleased to present the fourth annual report of the
Office of the Communications Authority (“OFCA") Trading
Fund. In 2015/16, OFCA continued to provide professional
support to the Communications Authority (“CA”) in
discharging its statutory responsibilities as the regulator of

the communications sector in Hong Kong.

The communications market in Hong Kong has been
vibrant and dynamic in recent years, and 2015/16 was
no exception. Our mobile telecommunications market
remained very competitive with high quality and reasonably
priced services available to consumers. All four mobile
network operators are now offering 4G services. The
penetration rate of mobile services exceeded 220%
as at March 2016, reflecting that mobile Internet has
practically achieved full population penetration. Our fixed
telecommunications infrastructure is also among the most
advanced, with fibre to the home/building household
penetration ranked the fifth globally by the Fibre to the
Home (“FTTH") Council Europe. Hong Kong’s Internet
service users benefit substantially from the submarine fibre-
optic cable systems that landed here. The World Economic
Forum’s Global Information Technology Report 2016
ranked Hong Kong as the second among 139 economies
in international Internet bandwidth per user. Furthermore,
according to the Internet content-delivery provider
Akamai, Hong Kong has the second highest average peak
connection speeds globally.

There have been changes to the landscape of the
broadcasting sector as well. HK Television Entertainment
Company Limited (“HKTVE") started to provide its licensed
domestic free television programme (“free TV") service by
using spectrum as an additional transmission means on
top of a fixed network from 2 April 2016, following the
cessation of the free TV service of Asia Television Limited
("ATV"). A new player is entering the free TV market
following the decision of the Chief Executive in Council
("CE in C") to grant a free TV licence to Fantastic Television
Limited (“Fantastic TV”) on 31 May 2016. Meanwhile, a
number of free TV licence applications are being processed.
The latest developments will have a significant impact on
the broadcasting landscape. The coming on stream of new
licensed services will enhance programme variety and widen

viewers' choices.

Broadcasting Services

A number of developments are taking place in television
and sound broadcasting services in Hong Kong. Following
the submission of the CA's recommendations on the free
TV licence application of Fantastic TV in January 2015, in
response to the requests of the CE in C, OFCA assisted the
CA in following up on the outstanding issues of the licence
application and submitting further recommendations on
the application to the CE in C in April 2016. On 31 May
2016, the CE in C decided to formally grant a 12-year free
TV licence to Fantastic TV.

In parallel, OFCA assisted the CA in processing the
application of HKTVE to employ spectrum, on top of a fixed
network, for the delivery of its licensed free TV service.
Following the agreement of HKTVE to comply with all the
additional conditions imposed by the CA, the CA approved
in January 2016 HKTVE's application.

On 1 April 2015, the CE in C decided not to renew ATV's
free TV licence and extended the term of its licence to
1 April 2016 in accordance with the provision of the
Broadcasting Ordinance (Cap. 562) (“BO"). This is the
first time in Hong Kong's broadcasting history that an
incumbent’s broadcasting licence has not been renewed.
We assisted the CA in closely monitoring ATV's operation,
handling regulatory issues arising from the non-renewal
of ATV's licence in the run-up to the expiry of its licence,
and facilitating the changeover of part of the broadcasting
frequencies withdrawn from ATV to the new spectrum
assignees, namely HKTVE and Radio Television Hong Kong

("RTHK"), in a seamless manner.

Apart from free TV services, we assisted the CA in

conducting a renewal exercise in respect of the domestic
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pay television programme service (“pay TV") licence of
Hong Kong Cable Television Limited (“HKCTV"). The
recommendations of the CA on this licence renewal

application were submitted to the CE in C in April 2016.

We also assisted the CA in preparing and submitting to
the CE in C its recommendations on the renewal of the
analogue sound broadcasting licences of Hong Kong
Commercial Broadcasting Company Limited (“CRHK") and
Metro Broadcast Corporation Limited (“Metro”) in May
2015. On 22 March 2016, having regard to, inter alia, the
recommendations of the CA, the CE in C decided to renew
the analogue sound broadcasting licences of CRHK and

Metro for a term of 12 years.

Regarding new applications for free TV licences, OFCA
assisted the CA in assessing the application of Hong
Kong Television Network Limited ("HKTV"), which was
received in April 2014, in accordance with the BO and
established procedures, and the CA's assessment of and
recommendations on the application were submitted to
the CE in C in January 2016. We will continue to support
the CA in processing the application of Forever Top (Asia)
Limited (“Forever Top"), received in April 2015, and such
other applications received in accordance with the BO and

established procedures.

OFCA continued to receive a large number of complaints
about broadcast materials. In 2015/16, OFCA handled
nearly 15 000 complaints relating to about 2 000 cases.
Using powers delegated by the CA, OFCA handled most
of those cases, which involved breaches of a minor nature,
or allegations which did not constitute any breach, or fell
outside the remit of the relevant ordinances. The CA dealt
with 15 cases in accordance with the complaint handling

procedures.

Telecommunications Services

We assisted the CA in implementing its decision on the
re-assignment of the 3G spectrum in the 1.9 — 2.2 GHz
band upon expiry of the existing assignments in October
2016. A working group has been set up to co-ordinate the
handover of spectrum between the incumbent 3G spectrum
assignees and the new assignee to minimise any impact
on the services during the transitional period. Our next

major task is to assist the CA in the re-assignment of 200

MHz of spectrum in the 900/1800 MHz bands, with current
terms of assignment expiring between November 2020 and
September 2021. The first public consultation on proposed
way forward was conducted from February to May 2016,
and the second public consultation is planned for early
2017. The CA will endeavour to announce its decision on
the arrangements for spectrum re-assignment by late 2017,
giving the industry about three years to prepare for any

change in spectrum assignments.

OFCA provides a single-point-of-contact service to actively
facilitate interested parties to obtain the necessary statutory
approvals for landing new submarine cable systems in
Hong Kong, so as to increase our capacity and resilience
of external telecommunications facilities. | am pleased
to report that two new systems are scheduled to land in
Hong Kong between mid-2016 and mid-2017, potentially

increasing our external connection capacity by about 24%.

Hong Kong has since 1995 adopted an 8-digit
telecommunications numbering plan. With the continuous
growth in the number of mobile service subscribers,
it is estimated that all the number blocks currently
available for mobile services may be used up by end
2018. Against this background, OFCA assisted the CA
in conducting a consultation on 29 October 2015 to
solicit public views on five proposed measures with a
view to making available additional number resources for
mobile services through more efficient use of the existing
8-digit telecommunications numbering plan. Taking into
account the views received from the consultation, the CA
announced in June 2016 its decision to adopt all the five
proposed measures for implementation in phases. OFCA
will work with the industry and the concerned parties and

monitor the implementation process.

Competition and Consumer Protection

On 14 December 2015, the Competition Ordinance
(Cap. 619) (“CQO"), a cross-sectoral competition law
prohibiting anti-competitive conduct in all sectors,
commenced full operation. The competition provisions
in the Telecommunications Ordinance (Cap. 106) (“TO")
and the BO were repealed on the same day subject to
transitional arrangements. Under the CO, the CA is
conferred concurrent jurisdiction with the Competition

Commission (“Commission”) to enforce the CO in respect
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of the conduct of undertakings in the telecommunications
and broadcasting sectors, including merger and
acquisition activities involving carrier licensees in the
telecommunications sector. From the full commencement
of the CO on 14 December 2015 to 31 March 2016, a total
of 45 complaints/enquiries were received, with 40 cases
closed without the need for further actions and five cases
under processing. During the period, OFCA also assisted
the CA in reviewing two transactions under the merger
rule. No further action was considered necessary in respect

of those transactions.

The fair trading sections of the Trade Descriptions Ordinance
(Cap. 362) ("“TDO") came into effect on 19 July 2013,
under which the CA is conferred concurrent jurisdiction
with the Customs & Excise Department (“C&ED") to
enforce the fair trading sections in the broadcasting and
telecommunications sectors. From 1 April 2015 to 31
March 2016, OFCA handled 899 complaint cases under the
TDO, of which 820 were closed due to insufficient evidence
to suspect/establish a contravention, or were outside the
scope of the TDO. A further 19 cases were closed with
the issue of advisory letters to the concerned licensees to
draw their attention to the need to observe more closely
the requirements in the TDO. One case was successfully
prosecuted, with the court convicting the defendant on 14
April 2016. The remaining cases were at different stages of

processing.

The CA has no statutory power to investigate service
contract disputes, a major area of consumer complaints
received by OFCA. With a view to providing further
protection to consumers in telecommunications service
contracts, OFCA engaged in active discussions with the
Communications Association of Hong Kong (“CAHK"),
the industry association for Hong Kong'’s communications
sector, on possible enhancement measures. Following
these discussions, CAHK drew up a self-regulatory Code of
Practice for Telecommunications Service Contracts (“Industry
Code"), which the industry started implementing in July
2011. Taking into account OFCA's suggestions based on
the implementation experience and consumers’ feedback,
CAHK made a number of enhancements to the Industry
Code, which took effect from 1 May 2015.

Enforcement of the Unsolicited
Electronic Messages Ordinance (Cap.
593) ("UEMO")

OFCA continues to assist the CA in the enforcement of
UEMO. In 2015/16, there were 1 725 reports, representing
a decrease of about 16% as compared to the 2 068 reports
received in the previous year. Regarding the enforcement
actions taken in 2015/16, OFCA issued a total of 106
advisory letters, 22 warning letters and two enforcement
notices to the senders of commercial electronic messages
after investigation. OFCA also mounted a raid operation
against a commercial facsimile sender in January 2016, and
laid charges against him in May and July 2016 in relation to
suspected contravention of an enforcement notice served

on him.

Consumer Education

In 2015/16, OFCA continued to run an annual consumer
education campaign featuring the theme “Smart Use
of Communications Services”. | am grateful to the
Professional Information Security Association for providing
guest speakers at five public seminars, enabling the
audience to learn from experts in the communications
sector on how to use their communications services smartly.
OFCA also expanded the reach of its consumer education
efforts in 2015/16 by holding community talks in 23 social
service centres, targeting those who are not well-versed

with the new technologies and mobile devices.

OFCA likewise hosted 12 talks for students and participants
of a community project on radio programme production in
2015/16, specifically on how the public can make informed
viewing choices regarding television programme services,
the regulation of television and sound broadcasting services,

and the programme standards governing radio services.

External Relations

OFCA participated actively in conferences organised by
international and regional organisations, including the
International Telecommunication Union (“ITU”) and the
Asia-Pacific Telecommunity (“APT"), to keep track of the
latest global regulatory developments and to share our

regulatory experience. During the year, OFCA also met
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OFFICE OF THE COMMUNICATIONS AUTHORITY

with its counterparts from the United States, Singapore,
Guangdong Province, Macao, and a number of countries

in Europe to exchange views and share its experience.

Major Challenges Ahead

The communications sector is characterised by rapidly
evolving technologies, market developments and service
introductions. OFCA needs to constantly keep itself up
to date on developments on all fronts to support the CA
in fully discharging its statutory regulatory responsibilities.
2016/17 will be no exception. On the broadcasting front,
we will continue to assist the CA in handling free TV
licence applications, monitoring new licensees in rolling
out their free TV services, and performing regulatory
functions. On the telecommunications front, following the
3G spectrum auction, we will continue to coordinate with
the mobile network operators to prepare for the spectrum
changeover in October 2016. We will also continue to
assist the CA in the re-assignment of 200 MHz of spectrum
in the 900/1800 MHz bands upon expiry of the existing

assignments between 2020 and 2021. Since the CA has
made a decision on the measures to be adopted for more
efficient utilisation of the 8-digit numbering plan and the
timetable, OFCA will work out the implementation plan
with the industry and concerned parties and monitor the
implementation process. We will also continue to keep
track of technology and market developments, and provide
support to the CA in streamlining the existing regulatory
and licensing regimes to ensure that they are conducive to

business innovation and investment.

I am most grateful to all members of OFCA's three advisory
committees for their advice on how OFCA could improve
its work. | am very fortunate to have a team of highly
competent and professional colleagues at OFCA who have
rendered me their unfailing support. | look forward to
working with them closely in the coming year to meet the

challenges ahead.
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Sustaining the Development of the Broadcasting Industry
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OFFICE OF THE COMMUNICATIONS AUTHORITY

The Development of Digital Terrestrial
Television Services

Re-assignment of Spectrum for the
Provision of Domestic Free Television
Programme Services

Following the decision of the CE in C on 1 April 2015 not
to renew the free TV licence of ATV and to extend the term
of ATV's licence to 1 April 2016, the CA, in exercise of its
power under the TO, gave notice to ATV on 20 April 2015
on the withdrawal, with effect from 2 April 2016, of all the
broadcasting frequencies assigned to ATV (comprising two
sets of analogue frequency channels, one digital multiplex
of the single frequency network and half of the capacity
of one digital multiplex of the multiple frequency network
("MFN") in 470 — 806 MHz of the Ultra High Frequency
band).

We assisted the CA in processing HKTVE's application
to employ spectrum, on top of a fixed network, as an
additional transmission means for the delivery of its licensed
free TV service. Following the agreement of HKTVE to
comply with all the additional conditions the CA imposed,
the CA approved in January 2016 HKTVE's application for
using spectrum as an additional transmission means and
re-assigned, from the date of withdrawal of the ATV's
broadcasting frequencies, half of the capacity of the MFN to
HKTVE for delivery of its digital terrestrial television (“DTT")

service.

To mitigate the impact arising from a reduction of analogue
free TV programme choices on the viewing public,
RTHK was assigned the two sets of analogue frequency
channels on 2 April 2016 to broadcast its TV services in
analogue format upon expiry of ATV's free TV licence until
the switching off of analogue TV broadcasting services
(“analogue switch-off”). The Government's working target
for analogue switch-off is end-2020, and a review will be
conducted in 2017-18.

1

DBC applied for the termination of its DAB licence on 8 August 2016.

OFCA worked closely with the broadcasters concerned to
plan for the cessation of ATV's free TV service at 00 Hours
on 2 April 2016, the changeover of broadcasting spectrum,
and the transmission of RTHK's two analogue television
programme channels and HKTVE's DTT programme channel
from the early hours of 2 April 2016. With broadcasters’
concerted efforts, the switch-over of the free TV services

took place in a seamless manner.

Development of Digital Audio
Broadcasting Services

Digital Audio Broadcasting ("DAB") services were launched
in 2012. As at 31 March 2016, the two DAB licensees,
namely Digital Broadcasting Corporation Hong Kong
Limited (“DBC")' and Metro’, provided a total of ten DAB

channels, and RTHK provided another five.

The DAB transmission network, comprising seven principal
transmitting stations located at Beacon Hill, Castle Peak,
Cloudy Hill, Golden Hill, Kowloon Peak, Lamma Island and

Mount Gough, was officially launched in June 2012. Three

new DAB gap-fillers were completed in 2015.

Handling of Broadcast Complaints

The CA does not pre-censor broadcast content, but adopts
a complaint-driven approach to ensure that broadcast
content complies with existing legislation, licence
conditions and the codes of practice that it has issued. As

the executive arm of the CA, we assist the CA in handling

Metro applied for the termination of its DAB licence on 12 Sepember 2016.
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OFFICE OF THE COMMUNICATIONS AUTHORITY

complaints about broadcast materials in accordance with
provisions stipulated in the Broadcasting (Miscellaneous
Provisions) Ordinance (Cap. 391) ("B(MP)O") and the

broadcast complaint handling procedures of the CA.

In 2015/16, we dealt with 1 999 cases (14 992
complaints)®, which represented a decline of 26% in the
number of cases, and a decline of 64% in the number
of complaints processed®, as compared with the figures
recorded in 2014/15 (2 694 cases and 41 449 complaints).
Among these, 15 cases (9 374 complaints) were referred
to the Broadcast Complaints Committee (“BCC") under
the CA for consideration before submission to the CA for
deliberation and determination. Details of the complaint
cases considered by the CA are published on the CA
website. Under powers delegated by the CA, the Director-
General of Communications handled the remaining 1 984
cases (5 618 complaints). These complaints were related
to breaches of a minor nature, or allegations which did
not constitute any breach or were outside the remit of
section 11(1) of the B(MP)O, that is, the substance of the
complaints did not involve a contravention of legislation,

licence conditions or codes of practice.

Licence Administration

Applications for Domestic Free Television
Programme Services Licences

Since the CE in C approved in principle the application
for a free TV licence by Fantastic TV in October 2013, we
had assisted the CA in taking follow-up actions on the
outstanding issues of Fantastic TV's application. Upon
Fantastic TV's requests, the CE in C gave it additional time
to resolve all outstanding issues and satisfactorily address
the concerns of the CA in relation to its application,
including, among others, the proposed corporate
restructuring to ensure its compliance with the non-
subsidiary requirement under the BO. On the basis of the
supplementary information provided by Fantastic TV, we

BERETENNEDe )

B oxePUE gy 1

lr new
- -

L w

-

assisted the CA to making further recommendations on the
application to the CE in C in April 2016.

Having regard to, inter alia, the CA's recommendations on
the licence application of Fantastic TV, the CE in C formally
granted in May 2016 a 12-year free TV licence to Fantastic
TV for the provision of free TV services. Fantastic TV is
required under its licence to launch its first free TV channel
within 12 months after licence grant, i.e. by 30 May 2017.
OFCA will assist the CA in monitoring the launch of the free

TV service by Fantastic TV in accordance with its licence.

Up to March 2016, the CA received two further
applications for free TV licences — from HKTV in April 2014
and Forever Top in April 2015. OFCA assisted the CA in
assessing HKTV's free TV licence application in accordance
with statutory requirements and established procedures and
the CA's assessment and recommendations were submitted
to the CE in C in January 2016. OFCA will continue to
assist the CA in assessing the free TV licence application
of Forever Top properly and prudently with a view to
submitting its recommendations to the CE in C as soon as

practicable.

Applications for Renewal of a Domestic
Pay Television Programme Service Licence

The domestic pay television programme service licence of
HKCTV is due to expire on 31 May 2017. HKCTV submitted

To ensure operational efficiency, complaints with similar allegations against the same issue or broadcast material are handled together and

counted as a single case.

The significant decline in the number of complaints processed in 2015/16 in comparison with the figures in 2014/15 was attributed

to a complaint case against a television programme broadcast on TVB and TVB Network Vision Limited which gave rise to over 27 000

complaints in 2014/15.
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its application for licence renewal to the CA in May 2015.
In accordance with the BO and established procedures, we
assisted the CA in carrying out a comprehensive assessment
of the performance of HKCTV, including conducting a
one-month public consultation exercise in August 2015 to
collect public views on the renewal application. The CA's
recommendations on the licence renewal application were
submitted to the CE in C in April 2016.

Applications for Renewal of Analogue
Sound Broadcasting Licences

We assisted the CA in preparing and submitting to the CE
in C its recommendations on the renewal of the analogue
sound broadcasting licences of CRHK and Metro in May
2015. Having conducted a comprehensive review of their
past performance, and taking into account the views
of the public, the CA recommended that the analogue
sound broadcasting licences of CRHK and Metro should be
renewed for a term of 12 years from 26 August 2016 to 25
August 2028. The CE in C decided on 22 March 2016 to

renew the licences of CRHK and Metro.

Follow-up to Non-renewal of a Domestic
Free Television Programme Service Licence

The CE in C decided in April 2015 not to renew ATV’s
free TV licence and to extend the term of its licence to 1
April 2016 in accordance with the requirement under the

BO. This is the first time in Hong Kong’s broadcasting

history that an incumbent’s broadcasting licence has not
been renewed. It remained, however, incumbent upon
ATV to comply at all times with all applicable regulatory
requirements under the BO and the conditions in its free
TV licence until the expiry of its licence. In this regard,
we assisted the CA in closely monitoring ATV's operation
and its compliance with the BO and licence conditions
in the run up to the expiry of its licence. In view of the
serious breaches of the statutory and licence requirements
by ATV, the CA had imposed on ATV sanctions which
were commensurate with the nature and severity of its
breaches, including invoking the procedures under the BO
to suspend the free TV licence of ATV for a period of 30
days®. Notwithstanding the CA's subsequent decision not
to proceed further with the licence suspension procedures
due to pragmatic considerations, the CA had put ATV on
clear notice that the severity and repeated nature of its
breaches will form part of the business record of ATV and
the persons exercising control of it at the time the breaches
occurred, and may be considered by the CA on future
occasions when the need arises for assessing the fitness

and properness of ATV and persons exercising control of it.

> The CA was satisfied that ATV's failure to (a) comply with the relevant licence requirements to broadcast comprehensive news bulletins

on its Home Channel from 6 February 2016 to 19 February 2016, and on its World Channel from 6 February 2016 onwards; (b) comply
with the residence requirement under the BO in respect of its directors; (c) comply with the direction issued by the CA, requiring it to pay

the first installment of the outstanding licence fee of its free TV licence by the deadline stipulated by the CA; (d) pay two sets of financial
penalties by the deadline stipulated by the CA; (e) pay the provisional variable fee of its free TV licence by the statutory deadline; and (f)

comply with the direction issued by the CA, requiring it to pay the outstanding provisional variable fee of its free TV licence by the deadline

stipulated by the CA, constituted grounds for licence suspension under the BO. Owing to the procedural requirements under the BO

pertaining to licence suspension, the CA was not able to complete the procedures to suspend ATV’ licence before the expiry of its licence

on 1 April 2016.
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Re-assignment of Frequency Spectrum
in the 1.9 - 2.2 GHz Bands

Among the 17 million mobile service subscribers in Hong
Kong, 88% or 14.7 million subscribe to mobile data
services provided on 3G and 4G networks. The 3G network
is supported primarily by 2 x 59.2 MHz of spectrum in the
1.9 to 2.2 GHz band (“3G Spectrum”), which was assigned
through auction to four mobile network operators in
October 2001.

The existing assignments of the 3G Spectrum will expire in
October 2016. The CA announced on 15 November 2013
its decision to adopt a hybrid administratively-assigned cum
market-based approach to re-assign the 3G Spectrum for a
new 15-year term, starting from 22 October 2016. On 15
November 2013, the Secretary for Commerce and Economic
Development (“SCED") also promulgated the related
arrangements for determining the spectrum utilization fee
("SUF") of the re-assigned spectrum under the TO.

Taking into account the merger of two incumbent 3G
operators in 2014 and the associated spectrum divestment
direction of the CA, the remaining three incumbent
3G operators were offered the right of first refusal for
re-assignment of a total of 2 x 34.6 MHz of the 3G
Spectrum, the level of SUF for which was prescribed by
subsidiary legislation enacted in July 2014. All three
incumbent 3G operators accepted the offers in August
2014. Following the right of first refusal exercise, the
remaining 2 x 24.6 MHz of the 3G Spectrum was assigned
to two incumbent 3G operators and a mobile network
operator through an auction conducted in December 2014.
The auction fetched a total SUF of $2.42 billion, or $49.2
million per MHz. Based on the method for setting the SUF
as prescribed by the subsidiary legislation, the SUF of the
3G Spectrum re-assigned administratively through right of
first refusal stood at $4.57 billion, or $66 million per MHz.
Therefore, SUF totalling $6.99 billion, covering the new
15-year term of assignment commencing on 22 October
2016, would be paid by the spectrum assignees to the
Government by August 2016.

29.6 MHz out of 118.4 MHz of the 3G spectrum re-
assigned through the auction conducted in December
2014 would change hands with effect from 22 October

2016. The incumbents and the new spectrum assignee

need to prepare for the necessary network reconfiguration
and roll-out of their networks respectively. In order to
facilitate a smooth spectrum handover among the spectrum
assignees, OFCA set up a Technical Working Group in
March 2015 with the participation of all relevant mobile
network operators to discuss and coordinate the technical
arrangements to be adopted in relation to the spectrum re-
assignment. With active contributions from the members
of the Working Group, the coordination work is progressing
smoothly. OFCA will continue to work with the operators
to avoid any service impact on customers during the

handover of the spectrum on 22 October 2016.

Re-assignment of Frequency Spectrum
in the 900 MHz and 1800 MHz Bands

Frequency spectrum in the 900 MHz and 1800 MHz
frequency bands is currently deployed for the provision of
2@G, 3G and 4G mobile services. The existing assignments
for 49.8 MHz of spectrum in the 900 MHz band and 148.8
MHz of spectrum in the 1800 MHz band will expire within
the period between November 2020 and September 2021.

The CA and the SCED jointly launched a public consultation
on 3 February 2016 in order to solicit the views and
comments of the industry and other affected parties on the
proposed arrangements for spectrum re-assignment and
the related SUF. Three options were proposed for spectrum
re-assignment, namely (1) a full-fledged administratively-
assigned approach; (2) a full-fledged market-based
approach; and (3) a hybrid administratively-assigned cum
market-based approach. The CA will adopt the option
that would best meet the four objectives in spectrum re-
assignment, namely ensuring customer service continuity,
efficient spectrum utilisation, promotion of effective
competition, and encouragement of investment in and

promotion of innovative services.

Upon the close of the three-and-a-half-month consultation
on 18 May 2016, 325 submissions were received from the
industry, business organisations and members of the public.
There was support from different industry players for all
three of the proposed re-assignment options. An external
consultant has been engaged to carry out a technical study
on any impact on service quality arising from different
spectrum re-assignment scenarios. After considering the

views and comments received from the first consultation as
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OFFICE OF THE COMMUNICATIONS AUTHORITY

well as the results of the consultancy study, the CA plans to
put forward a detailed proposal for spectrum re-assignment
in the second round of public consultation to be conducted
at early 2017, with a view to announcing its decision on
the arrangements for spectrum re-assignment by end 2017.
This will allow a lead time of three years for the industry to

prepare for any change in spectrum assignments.

Reduction of Telecommunications
Licence Fees

In November 2012, the CA and the SCED issued a joint
statement that promulgated their decision to reduce the
customer connection fee level of Unified Carrier Licences
("UCLs") from $800 to $700 for each set of 100 customer
connections, and to reduce the mobile station fee level
of Public Radiocommunications Service Licences (Paging)
and Services-Based Operator Licences (Class 3) from $800
to $700 for each set of 100 mobile stations. Following
the completion of the legislative procedure, the new
licence fees took effect on 1 March 2013. In February
2013, PCCW-HKT Telephone Limited and Hong Kong
Telecommunications (HKT) Limited (“PCCW and HKT")
applied for leave to lodge a judicial review (“JR") against
the CA and the SCED on their decisions on licence fees
reduction. The Court granted leave to PCCW and HKT's
application for the JR in July 2013. The substantive hearing
was held from 17 to 19 June 2015 with the judgment
handed down on 11 August 2015. The Court of First
Instance ruled in favour of the CA and the SCED and
dismissed the JR application. PCCW and HKT lodged an
appeal to the Court of Appeal on 4 September 2015 and
the hearing was held from 19 to 20 April 2016°.

Regulation of Broadcast-type Mobile
TV Services

Since the launch of broadcast-type mobile television
services (“Mobile TV Services”) in February 2012, the China
Mobile Multimedia Broadcasting (“CMMB") standard has
been used as the transmission standard. In January 2014,
Hong Kong Mobile Television Network Limited (“HKMTV"),
the licensee holding the UCL which authorised it to provide
Mobile TV Services (“Mobile TV Licence”), indicated to

6

Court of Final Appeal on 13 June 2016.

OFCA its proposal to switch from the original CMMB
standard to the Digital Terrestrial Multimedia Broadcast
("DTMB") standard.

As the executive arm of the CA, OFCA expressed its views
to HKTV and HKMTV that Mobile TV Services using the
DTMB standard without effective technical measures to
prevent fixed reception by specified premises will render the
Mobile TV Services available for reception by an audience
of more than 5 000 specified premises in Hong Kong and
hence should be subject to regulation by the BO. On
11 April 2014, HKTV and HKMTV applied to the court
for leave to apply for a JR of OFCA's positions. After the
substantive hearing conducted on 26 and 27 November
2014, the Court of First Instance handed down its judgment
on 29 September 2015 in favour of OFCA and dismissed
all the grounds of JR brought by HKTV and HKMTV.
Subsequently, HKTV requested OFCA to process HKMTV's
proposal of using an alternative transmission standard for
the provision of its Mobile TV Services. Since then, OFCA
has been diligently following up with HKTV in respect of
its alternative proposal. The CA and OFCA will continue
to facilitate HKMTV to provide its Mobile TV Services in
compliance with the requirements of the relevant legislation
and its Mobile TV Licence.

Continued Efforts to Strengthen
Consumer Protection in the Use of
Telecommunications Services

Ongoing Implementation of “Mobile Bill
Shock” Preventive Measures

The growing popularity of smartphones and advanced
mobile devices has driven the growth of and demand for
mobile data services in recent years. At the same time, the
increase in the number of consumer complaints relating to
mobile broadband billing disputes has become a common
concern among consumers. Many of these complaints
involve “mobile bill shock”, which refers to the shock
consumers experience upon receiving unexpectedly high
mobile bill charges. “Mobile bill shock” is mainly caused by
unintentional or inadvertent usage of mobile data services,

locally or while roaming overseas.

The Court of Appeal dismissed the appeal application on 17 May 2016. PCCW and HKT lodged an application for leave to appeal to the
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To address this problem, OFCA has promulgated a series
of preventive measures for the industry since May 2010.
These measures include allowing customers to opt out
of individual services; setting a charge ceiling; setting a
usage cap for all kinds of usage-based mobile services;
and alerting customers through short messages when their
pre-determined usage threshold is reached, or when their

roaming data usage is triggered.

To increase the transparency of the relevant service
information, OFCA has published measures implemented
by individual operators on its website and provided regular
updates. In parallel with these measures, OFCA has
organised a series of consumer-education programmes
to enhance consumers’ awareness and knowledge of
mobile data services. OFCA has also posted a data
usage calculator on its website, which serves as a tool for
consumers to estimate their data usage consumption. With
the implementation of the abovementioned preventive
measures by mobile network operators and mobile virtual
network operators as well as our on-going consumer
education efforts, the number of complaints in relation to
“mobile bill shock” decreased from 615 cases in 2014 to

289 cases in 2015, representing a drop of 53%.

Progress of the Implementation of Fair
Usage Policy Guidelines

Fixed and mobile broadband service providers offer a
variety of service plans to consumers, including plans with

1

“unlimited usage”. However, certain “unlimited usage”
service plans are in fact subject to usage restrictions
imposed by service providers in the name of Fair Usage
Policy (“FUP"). The FUP is intended to prevent excessive
usage of network resources by individual customers, which
may adversely affect the network performance and hamper
other customers’ use of the service. For example, service
providers may impose restrictions by lowering the network
service priority or reducing the access speed for customers
whose data usage has exceeded certain threshold.
Nevertheless, consumers may not be aware of the existence
of the FUP or understand the relevant terms and conditions.
Customers of “unlimited service” plans in particular feel
aggrieved when their data usage is subject to restriction
because of the FUP.

In order to protect consumer interests and enhance the
transparency of service information, the CA issued a set of
FUP guidelines in November 2011, governing how service
providers should implement their FUP. The mandatory

guidelines have been in effect since February 2012.

In 2015, OFCA assisted the CA in handling six FUP-
related complaint cases. None of them was found to be in

contravention of the FUP guidelines.

Enhancement of the Broadband
Performance Test System

Since December 2010, OFCA has posted on its website a
broadband performance test system to enable broadband
service users to measure the performance of their
broadband connections, including download and upload
speeds, network latency, packet loss and jitter. Apart from
users of desktop and notebook computers, users of smart
phones and tablets running iPhone operating system (“iOS")
and Android operating systems may also make use of the

test system.

From time to time, we review and upgrade the test
system to further enhance its capability and performance.
Currently, it offers desktop users and users of iOS- and
Android-based mobile devices speed tests of up to 1 000
Mbps and 400 Mbps respectively.

The broadband performance test system was accredited
with a Certificate of Merit under the category of “Best
Public Service Application (Web/Mobile Application) Award”
in the “Hong Kong ICT Awards 2013". From service launch
to March 2016, more than 64 million tests were performed

under the system.

Continuing to Facilitate the
Implementation of Self-regulatory
Measures

Enhancement of the Industry Code of
Practice for Telecommunications Service
Contracts

In order to provide guidelines for the industry on drawing
up telecommunications service contracts so as to improve
transparency in the contracting process and increase

customer satisfaction, CAHK, an industry association,
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promulgated a self-regulatory Industry Code in December
2010, which was implemented by all major fixed and

mobile network operators starting from July 2011.

Having regard to the implementation experience and
consumers’ feedback, OFCA made a number of suggestions
to CAHK for further enhancement to the Industry Code.
CAHK revised the Industry Code in October 2014 following
discussions with participating operators. Major revisions

include:

e improving the arrangement for contract termination so
as not to cause inconvenience to customers or involve

unreasonable delay;

e improving the arrangement for the provision of written

confirmation for extension or renewal of contracts;

e stating clearly in the contract the calculation of the
termination charge or the maximum amount involved if
it is not feasible for the operators to provide service at
the relocated premises due to the absence of network

coverage,

e stating clearly in the contract the calculation of the first

bill and the last bill within the contract term; and

® encouraging operators to implement better cooling-off

period arrangements with greater flexibility.

The revised Industry Code took effect on 1 May 2015.

Since the implementation of the Industry Code in July
2011, the number of complaints related to service contract
disputes has been decreasing continuously, from 1 277
cases in 2011 to 458 cases in 2015, representing a drop of

more than 64%.

Code for the Provision of Chargeable
Mobile Content Services

To safeguard consumer interests and increase the
transparency of the pricing information related to Mobile
Content Services ("MCS"), OFCA has worked closely
with the industry to draw up the voluntary “Code for
the Provision of Chargeable Mobile Content Services”.
Promulgated and put into effect by CAHK in January 2010,
the code governs the practices of third-party Content
Service Providers (“CSPs”) in providing MCS and the

establishment of an industry self-regulatory scheme. Under

the code, all third-party CSPs are required to indicate clearly
to their customers the chargeable nature of the services and
obtain their clear consent before initiating the delivery and
provision of MCS. They are also required to set out clearly
the unsubscribing mechanisms, which should be simple and

convenient.

The code also provides for the establishment of an
Administrative Agency (“AA"), which is responsible for
assessing the capability of CSPs and securing their pledges
in complying with the requirements of the code, as well as
monitoring their compliance through complaint handling
and random checks. A mobile network operator may
only enter into a commercial contract with a CSP that has
obtained a Letter of Positive Assessment (“LPA") from the
AA regarding MCS delivery and billing. As at the end of
March 2016, seven CSPs were holding the LPAs issued by
the AA.

Since the adoption of the code in January 2010, OFCA has
been closely monitoring its effectiveness, and recorded a
continued decrease in the number of related complaints,
which has remained at a low level. During the year under
review, less than one complaint case was received on a
monthly average, reflecting the compliance of CSPs with
the voluntary code and satisfaction of customers with the
MCS.

Code of Practice in Relation to Billing
Information and Payment Collection for
Telecommunications Services

In October 2011, the CA issued a voluntary code of practice
entitled “Code of Practice in Relation to Billing and Payment
Collection for Telecommunications Services”, with a view to
reducing billing disputes and enhancing the transparency of
billing information. This code of practice provides guidance
to telecommunications operators on chargeable items to
be included in their bills, and arrangements for payment
collection. As at March 2016, seven local fixed and four
mobile network operators had pledged compliance with
the code. We have published on our website a consumer
alert as well as a summary of the compliance status of
all operators for the information of consumers. We will
continue to closely monitor the implementation and

effectiveness of this code of practice.
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Industry Code of Practice for Provision of
Mobile TV Services

According to the Framework for Development of
Broadcast-type Mobile TV Services in Hong Kong, which
was promulgated by the Government in December 2008
and revised in February 2010, the industry is required to
develop a code of practice on the provision of Mobile TV
Services, both local broadcast-type and streaming-type,
for the purpose of self-regulation. In August 2012, CAHK
issued a code of practice for Mobile TV Services. With a
view to protecting children and public morals, the code
requires Mobile TV Service providers to implement access
controls for pornographic and obscene content. Mobile TV
Service providers should also have regard to the prevailing
standards of morality generally accepted by society, and
in particular be vigilant about the likely effects of their

television content on children.

Long-term Implementation of the
Customer Complaint Settlement Scheme

To help resolve billing disputes in deadlock between
telecommunications service providers and their residential/
personal customers by means of mediation, OFCA
facilitated the setting up of a voluntary Customer Complaint
Settlement Scheme (“CCSS”) by the telecommunications
industry for a trial period of two years starting from
1 November 2012. The mediation service was provided
by an independent mediation service centre (“CCSS
Centre”) set up under CAHK with voluntary participation
of all major telecommunications service providers in Hong
Kong. OFCA supported the CCSS by contributing the
necessary funding, vetting the CCSS applications against
the acceptance criteria, and monitoring the performance

and the governance of the scheme.

Following completion of the trial scheme on 31 October
2014, OFCA conducted a review of the effectiveness of
the CCSS and its usage by the public. Having regard to
the encouraging outcome of the CCSS trial, the proven
demand from customers and the positive feedback from
the industry, OFCA decided to support the long-term
implementation of the CCSS on the basis of the framework
adopted in the trial scheme. The long-term implementation
of the CCSS commenced on 1 May 2015.

During the implementation period from 1 May 2015 to
31 March 2016, there were 145 eligible applications,
73 cases of which were resolved before referral to the
CCSS Centre, 64 cases were satisfactorily settled through
mediation by the CCSS Centre, four cases were not settled,
and the remaining four cases were being processed by the
CCSS Centre.

To raise public awareness of the CCSS, a series of publicity
activities were conducted, such as publication of comic
strips and advertorials, as well as the conduct of roving
exhibitions and public seminars. OFCA will continue to

support the CCSS and monitor its effectiveness.

Facilitation of the Landing of New
Submarine Cable Systems in Hong
Kong

During the year, OFCA continued to provide a single-point-
of-contact service, assisting operators to apply for the
necessary statutory approvals to land two new submarine
cable systems, namely the Asia-Pacific Gateway and the
Asia Africa Europe-1, in Hong Kong. These two new
systems are scheduled to land in Hong Kong between mid-
2016 and mid-2017. During the year, OFCA also took
the initiative to discuss with other relevant Government
departments on possible ways to speed up the processing
of the applications for the necessary statutory approvals
to carry out installation works and emergency repairs of
submarine cable systems in Hong Kong waters. As a result,
the application procedures and requirements concerned
were simplified and streamlined. We have accordingly
updated the “Information Note on Applying for Required
Government Permits/Approvals/Visas to Carry out Works
Related to Submarine Cable Systems within Hong Kong
Waters” to set out the streamlined application procedures
and requirements, and published it on OFCA's website for

the industry’s information.

Development of Fixed Broadband
Services

Broadband access to various applications and content
services has become an integral part of people’s lives in
Hong Kong. With the continuous network rollout of fixed
network operators, the Hong Kong community is able to

enjoy nearly ubiquitous coverage of broadband networks
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OFFICE OF THE COMMUNICATIONS AUTHORITY

deploying various technologies. As at March 2016, there
were around 2.35 million residential and commercial fixed-
broadband subscribers, with a household penetration rate
of 84%. Broadband services are now available at speeds
of up to 10 Gbps. Around 86% of fixed broadband
subscribers use broadband services with a speed of 10
Mbps or above. With a view to enhancing the provision
of fixed broadband services in villages in rural and remote
areas through increased competition in the market, the CA
has amended the unified carrier licence of the 21 ViaNet
Group Limited to enable the licensee to provide wireless
fixed broadband service using radio spectrum in the 2.3
GHz band. It is expected that the choice and service quality
of fixed broadband services in rural and remote areas will
improve progressively with the rollout of the wireless fixed
network to those areas as well as the on-going expansion

of coverage by the wireline fixed network operators.

According to a press release issued by the FTTH Council
Europe in February 2016, Hong Kong ranked the fifth
worldwide in fibre to home/building household penetration
among the 54 economies under comparison. According
to the “State of the Internet 1st Quarter, 2016 Report”
published by Internet content delivery provider Akamai in
June 2016, Hong Kong has an average peak connection
speed of 110.3 Mbps, which is the second highest in the

world.

Review of Licence Conditions in the Carrier
Licences

Alongside the evolution of the carrier licensing regime over
the past years, cross-sectoral legislation or regulation on
specific matters which apply across the board to all sectors
including the telecommunications sector, have come on
stream. The introduction of and further enhancements
to these cross-sectoral regulatory regimes over time have
served to supersede the sector-specific controls imposed
under the telecommunications licensing regime and

rendered the latter inappropriate and unnecessary.

With a view to removing the anomaly of subjecting
telecommunications licensees to both the sectoral and
cross-sectoral regulatory controls on specific matters,
and following a public consultation, the CA and SCED
announced on 10 March 2015 their decisions to remove

five special conditions (“SCs") governing road-opening

works and one general condition (*GC") relating to
restrictions on attachment to public buildings and trees
from carrier licences (“the Decisions”). Pursuant to the
Decisions, OFCA issued a circular letter inviting the licence
holders to return their licences to effect the corresponding
removal of the SCs. Most of the major carrier licensees
have already returned their licences for removal of the
concerned SCs. It is necessary to introduce legislative
amendments to the Telecommunications (Carrier Licences)
Regulation (Cap. 106V) (“Amendment Regulation”) for the
removal of the GC. OFCA provided support to the SCED in
introducing the Amendment Regulation, which commenced

operation from 1 July 2016.

Measures for More Efficient Utilisation of
the 8-digit Numbering Plan

Since 1995, Hong Kong has adopted an 8-digit
telecommunications numbering plan. With the persistently
high demand for mobile service numbers, as well as the
advent of future generation mobile services such as the
Internet of Things and fifth generation (“5G") mobile
services, it is expected that the consumption rate of
mobile numbers will be sustained in the years to come.
It is forecast that the 8-digit numbers currently available
for allocation to mobile services will be used up by end
2018 if no mitigation measures are taken. Against this
background, OFCA assisted the CA in conducting a
2-month public consultation from October to December
2015 to solicit public views on five proposed measures
with a view to making available additional number
resources for mobile services through more efficient use
of the existing 8-digit telecommunications numbering
plan. By the close of the consultation, 20 submissions
were received. Having carefully considered the views and
comments from the industry and interested parties, as well
as taking into account the need to ensure that adequate
number resources shall be made available to cope with
the development of 5G mobile technologies in the coming
years, OFCA supported the CA in finalising the measures to
be adopted and the implementation plan for the respective
measures, and announcing its decision in June 2016. OFCA
will follow up with the industry and other affected parties
in respect of implementing the necessary changes to their
networks and systems in relation to the new numbering

blocks to be released under the respective measures.
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Managlng the Radio Spectrum and Sustaining Technical
Excellence
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OFFICE OF THE COMMUNICATIONS AUTHORITY

Administration of the Hong Kong
Telecommunications Equipment
Evaluation and Certification Scheme

To keep pace with international best practices, commencing
1 October 2009, the testing and certification services for
telecommunications equipment, which were previously
provided by the then Office of the Telecommunications
Authority, were transferred to qualified local testing
laboratories. Laboratories accredited by the CA as local
certification bodies (“LCBs”) can offer a full range of
telecommunications equipment-testing and certification
services. In 2015/16, the LCBs issued 424 equipment
certificates to meet the needs of the telecommunications

eqguipment market.

To ensure that all LCBs providing telecommunications
equipment-testing and certification services meet the service
quality and performance standards prescribed by OFCA,
we will continue to closely monitor their performance by
conducting documentary checks, plant visits and reviews on
a regular basis. So far, all LCBs have been performing up to
the standards prescribed by OFCA.

We constantly monitor international developments in
telecommunications standardisation, and update local
technical standards in order to meet the needs of the
industry and the public. In 2015/16, a total of three papers
were issued to consult the industry on matters related to
standardisation, and two revised technical standards were

approved and issued by the CA.

Frequency Assignment of In-building
Co-axial Cable Distribution System
Channels

In 2015/16, OFCA assisted the CA in reviewing the
assignment of In-building Co-axial Cable Distribution
System (“IBCCDS") channels to HKCTV for conveyance of
domestic pay TV services in conjunction with the renewal

exercise of HKCTV's pay TV service licence.

Frequency Band Planning for the
Introduction of New Applications

To meet the demand of the industry and the public for
new applications that require the use of radio spectrum,
we constantly monitor overseas developments of
spectrum management and progress of related technology
advancement, with a view to allocating timely new
frequency bands to facilitate the introduction of these
applications. In 2015/16, we conducted study on the
frequency plan for the bands 57-66 GHz, 71-76 GHz/81-
86 GHz and 76-81 GHz. The three frequency bands may
be used for deployment of short-range devices, fixed links/

mobile services and automotive radars respectively.

Management of Spectrum and Orbital
Positions for Satellite Networks

Satellite spectrum and orbital positions are limited natural
resources. It is our duty to ensure that the use of these
resources by communications satellites registered in
Hong Kong adheres to the international practices of the
ITU. Following the launch of a new satellite APSTAR 9
in 2015, there were ten satellites in orbit operated by
two Hong Kong companies licensed to provide satellite

communications services.
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Facilitating Market Competition and Strengthening
Consumer Protection
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Full Commencement of the
Competition Ordinance

The CO, a cross-sectoral competition law prohibiting
anti-competitive conduct in all sectors, commenced full
operation on 14 December 2015. Under the CO, the CA is
conferred concurrent jurisdiction with the Commission to
enforce the CO in respect of the conduct of undertakings
operating in the telecommunications and broadcasting
sectors, including merger and acquisition activities involving
carrier licensees in the telecommunications sector. The
competition provisions in the BO and TO were repealed

simultaneously subject to transitional arrangements.

Upon full commencement of the CO, the CA and the
Commission signed a memorandum of understanding
(“MoU") to co-ordinate the performance of their functions
on which they have concurrent jurisdiction. In accordance
with the principles agreed by the CA and the Commission
under the MoU, the CA will ordinarily take the role of the
lead authority for matters falling within the concurrent
jurisdiction. For matters involving issues that are partly
within and partly outside the concurrent jurisdiction, the
CA and the Commission will discuss and agree on how best

to process the matter on a case-by-case basis.

To assist businesses and the public to understand the CO,
the CA and the Commission jointly issued under the CO
six sets of guidelines on 27 July 2015 setting out how they
would interpret and give effect to the three competition
rules, and explaining the procedures for handling
complaints, conducting investigations and considering

applications for exclusions and exemptions.

In relation to handling leniency applications in respect of
the telecommunications and broadcasting sectors under the
CO, the CA, having considered the views received from the
telecommunications and broadcasting sectors, and taking
into account its experiences in enforcing the competition
provisions under the TO and the BO since 2000, announced
on 19 November 2015 that it would not adopt a leniency
policy for its enforcement of the CO, either on its own or
jointly with the Commission. The CA may, in accordance
with the relevant provisions of the CO and the actual
circumstances of the cases on which it has concurrent
jurisdiction with the Commission, consider making leniency
agreements with the telecommunications and broadcasting

licensees on a case-by-case basis.

We will continue to assist the CA in enforcing the CO in
the broadcasting and telecommunications sectors as well as
liaising with the Commission to coordinate the performance

of functions under the concurrent jurisdiction arrangement.

Handling of and Investigations

into Competition Complaints in the
Telecommunications and Broadcasting
Sectors and Merger & Acquisition Cases
in the Telecommunications Sector

Since the full commencement of the CO on 14 December
2015 to 31 March 2016, a total of 45 complaints and/or
enquiries were received, with 40 cases closed without the
need for further actions and five cases under processing.
During the period, we also assisted the CA in reviewing
two transactions under the Merger Rule of the CO, and no
further action was considered necessary in respect of these

two transactions.

In addition to handling competition cases under the CO,
from 1 April 2015 to 31 March 2016, we assisted the CA
in processing five complaint cases under sections 7K, 7L
and 7N of the TO, and two cases under section 7P of the
TO, which respectively prohibit anti-competitive conduct
by telecommunications licensees, and anti-competitive
mergers involving carrier licensees, that took place prior to
the commencement of the CO. All cases were closed after
due consideration, with no investigation opened. During
the same period, we assisted the CA in considering two
complaint cases under sections 13 and 14 of the BO, which
prohibit anti-competitive conduct by broadcasting licensees
that took place prior to the commencement of the CO.
After due consideration, all cases were closed, with no

investigation opened.

We assisted the CA in handling the proceedings in relation
to the JR lodged by TVB against the appeal mechanism
under the BO and the CA's decision on a complaint case
relating to TVB's alleged violation of the competition
provisions under the BO. On 29 January 2016, of the
seven grounds of appeal submitted by TVB, the Court of
First Instance ruled in favour of TVB on two grounds: (i)
the appeal mechanism to the CE in C under section 34 of
the BO is in contravention of Article 10 of the Hong Kong
Bill of Rights; and (ii) paragraph 277 of the CA's decision,

which required TVB to abandon all relevant contractual
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clauses and policies, was not proportional to redress the
anti-competitive act of TVB. The Court quashed the CA's
decision. On 26 February 2016, the CA filed its Notice of
Appeal to the Court of Appeal.

Handling of and Investigations into
Complaints about Contravention of
TDO

The fair trading sections of the TDO prohibit certain
specified unfair trade practices by traders in the provision of

goods and services to consumers.

The CA is conferred concurrent jurisdiction with the
C&ED to enforce the fair trading sections of the TDO in
relation to the commercial practices of licensees under
the TO and the BO directly connected with the provision
of telecommunications and broadcasting services. The
two enforcement agencies have entered into a MoU to
co-ordinate the performance of their functions under the
fair trading sections of the TDO and have issued a set of
enforcement guidelines to provide guidance for traders and

consumers as to the operation of the fair trading sections.

From 1 April 2015 to 31 March 2016, OFCA handled a total
of 899 complaint cases under the TDO. Of these cases, 820
were closed due to insufficient evidence to suspect/establish
a contravention, or because they fell outside the scope of
the TDO; 19 cases were closed after the CA issued advisory
letters to the licensees concerned to bring to their attention
the subject matter and advise them of the need to improve
their relevant commercial practices in relation to the sale
supply or promotion of telecommunications or broadcasting
services to consumers; one case was successfully prosecuted
(with a conviction by the court on 14 April 2016) and
the remaining 59 cases were under processing at various

stages.

Handling of and Investigations into
Telecommunications Complaints
about Misleading or Deceptive
Conduct

Section 7M of the TO, which prohibited misleading or
deceptive conduct by telecommunications licensees, was
repealed upon the commencement of the fair trading
sections of the TDO on 19 July 2013. As a transitional

arrangement, a licensee engaged in misleading or deceptive
conduct that took place before 19 July 2013 would
continue to be regulated under section 7M of the TO. In
this regard, OFCA assisted the CA in handling 23 complaint
cases under section 7M of the TO from 1 April 2015 to
31 March 2016. No case of infringement was found.

Enforcement of the Unsolicited
Electronic Messages Ordinance

Do-not-call Registers

Under the UEMO, we have established three Do-Not-Call
(“DNC") Registers for facsimile messages, short messages
and pre-recorded telephone messages. Commercial
electronic messages (“CEMs”) must not be sent to
registered numbers unless the senders have obtained
consent from the registered users. By March 2016, more
than 2.8 million numbers were registered with these
three DNC Registers. Apart from not sending CEMs to
the registered users of the DNC Registers, senders of
CEMs are also required under the UEMO to comply with a
number of sending rules. For example, they must provide
the recipients with their contact information and an
“unsubscribe facility” in their CEMs so that the recipients
can approach the sender concerned and unsubscribe from

receiving their CEMs.

In 2015/16, the total number of reports received in relation
to suspected contraventions of UEMO was 1 725, a
reduction of about 16% from that of the previous year.
We observed a continued shift of spamming activities
from the traditional means of facsimile and pre-recorded
voice messages to the use of mobile instant messaging
applications (“IMAs"”) to send short messages. The UEMO
adopts a “technology-neutral” principle in regulating the
sending of CEMs, including CEMs sent via IMAs. We will
continue to monitor the compliance situation on various
platforms and streamline the procedures for more effective

enforcement.

Enforcement

If the number of reports received against a sender is
below a certain threshold, we will issue an advisory letter
reminding the sender to observe the requirements under

the UEMO. If the number of reports received against a
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A series of consumer education programmes under the theme “Smart Use of Communications Services” were organised to further enhance

public awareness of using communications services smartly.
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sender exceeds the threshold, or if we continue to receive
reports against the same sender after the issuance of an
advisory letter, we will conduct a formal investigation and
may issue a warning letter to that sender. In 2015/16, a
total of 106 advisory letters and 22 warning letters were

issued.

In the event of repeated contraventions by the senders of
CEMs, we may issue enforcement notices in accordance
with section 38 of the UEMO, directing the senders to take
steps to remedy the contraventions. Anyone who fails to
comply with the enforcement notice may be liable to a fine
of up to HK$100,000 on the first conviction. In 2015/16,
we issued two enforcement notices to two senders. On
22 January 2016, we mounted a raid operation against
a commercial facsimile sender in relation to its suspected

contravention of an enforcement notice served on him’.

Consumer Education Programmes

We continued to organise the annual Consumer Education
Campaign (“the Campaign”) in 2015/16 to promote the
smart use of communications services. The Campaign,
which featured the theme “Smart Use of Communications
Services”, was held from August 2015 to May 2016.
During the Campaign, a total of eight exhibitions were held
at different locations to convey to the community useful
consumer messages through informative display panels,
various fun games and short videos. In collaboration with
an industry association, five public seminars hosted by
guest speakers who are experts in the communications
industry were also held to educate the public on how to use
communications services smartly. In order to reach out to
different community groups, in particular those who are not
well-versed with the new technologies and mobile devices,
23 community talks were held at social service centres
during the Campaign period. A series of school activities,
including roving drama performances, mini exhibitions
and a Wallpaper Design Competition, were organised to
enhance students’ understanding of the importance of
using mobile data services smartly and protecting their
data in mobile phones. During the Campaign, we visited
20 primary and secondary schools, performing the drama

to over 4 000 students. To maximise the exposure of our

Charges were laid against the sender in May and July 2016.

educational messages, a series of printed advertorials in the
form of comic strips were printed in newspapers, and short

videos were broadcast on public transport media channels.

In addition, a series of publicity initiatives targeting
outbound travellers were launched during the year to
remind them of issues to which they should pay attention
while using mobile data roaming services outside Hong
Kong. The initiatives included issuing press releases with
consumer messages before peak travelling seasons, posting
messages on the website of the Travel Industry Council of
Hong Kong, distributing comic strips of consumer messages

through the outlets of local travel agents, and displaying

posters at major immigration control points.

im f,b “a
A - 4

SEENEAR  BAPEEREBR Y 205 B E BFERRBERFH
KMRELE - HEENMBPEMRZ 2RSSR RFFR
ETENER -

During the Campaign period, 20 interactive roving drama
performances and a mobile phone wall paper design competition
were organised at schools to promote how to use smart phones in
a smart and safe manner and protect phones’ data.
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External and Community Relations
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OFCA attended the International Regulators Forum of the
International Institute of Communications in October 2015.
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The World Telecommunications and Information Society Day -
Hong Kong 2015 sponsored by OFCA has successfully enhanced
youth awareness of information and communications technology.
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Participation in International and
Regional Conferences

OFCA participates actively in the activities of, and maintains
close contact with, a number of international and regional
organisations, either as an independent member of those

organisations or as part of the Chinese delegation.

In 2015/16, we attended a total of 21 conferences/meetings
held by regional and international organisations, including
the ITU, Asia-Pacific Economic Cooperation (“APEC"), APT,
the International Institute of Communications (“IIC") and
London Action Plan. The more significant events of the year
were the ITU World Radiocommunication Conference and
its preparatory workshops, the ITU Global Symposium for
Regulators and the IIC International Regulators Forum. We
will continue to participate in the activities of the ITU, APEC
and APT with the aim of improving the telecommunications

and information infrastructure in the Asia-Pacific region.

Exchanges with Authorities in the
Mainland of China and Overseas
Administrations

In 2015/16, we received five delegations from the
Mainland of China and overseas and exchanged views
and experiences with them on various issues relating to
communications services. The delegations were from
the Federal Communications Commission of the United
States, the Competition and Markets Authority of the
United Kingdom, the Infocomm Development Authority of
Singapore, the Media Development Authority of Singapore,
and the Guangdong Communications Administration of the
Mainland of China.

During the year, we attended a meeting in Shenzhen with
the Ministry of Industry and Information Technology of
the Mainland of China, and an annual bilateral meeting in
Macao with the Bureau of Telecommunications Regulation

of Macao.

Media and Community Relations

We proactively keep the public and the media informed
of our work. In 2015/16, we issued 36 press releases
on the CA's major decisions in relation to broadcasting
and telecommunications regulatory issues and OFCA's

major initiatives, operations or events. The speeches

BB EEIMRIEIRERRESTENE R KR -
OFCA often exchanges views and experience on regulatory issues
with overseas counterparts.

and presentations made by the Director-General of
Communications at public events and industry conferences
are also published on our website. These measures help
disseminate our messages to both the industry and the
public, and enable them to gain a better understanding of

our work.

Public Education and Communications

In 2015/16, we gave eight talks concerning broadcasting
services in Hong Kong to students of four primary schools,
two secondary schools and two universities, and four talks
to participants of the Community Involvement Broadcasting
Service ("CIBS"”). The primary and secondary students were
briefed on the different categories of television programme
services in Hong Kong and how audiences could make
informed viewing choices. The university students
were briefed on the regulation of television and sound
broadcasting services. The participants of CIBS were briefed

on the programme standards governing radio services.
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Through exhibition booth and career forum in the Education
& Careers Expo 2016, the visitors were informed of the career
opportunities offered by OFCA.
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OFCA held a lunch reception to thank for Advisory Committee
Members' contributions and support to OFCA's work in the past
two-year service term.
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Participation in Communications
Activities

OFCA continued to participate in the annual
“Mountaineering Safety Promotion Day” jointly organised
by the Civil Aid Service and 17 other government
departments and organisations in October 2015 in Tseung
Kwan O. With the aim of promoting hiking safety, OFCA
set up an exhibition booth at the event and delivered a talk

to visitors to promote effective means of communication in

country parks.

N : >
) ] vy N

SE - BMPHEESE T IEFHR2ERER, EESEA
AMNEREZRATIE °

This year, OFCA continued to participate in the “Mountaineering
Safety Promotion Day” to promote the effective use of emergency
communication means in country parks.

OFCA has always been keen to support the industry’s
activities. In 2015/16, we sponsored two major industry
campaigns, namely the World Telecommunication and
Information Society Day Hong Kong (“WTISD-HK") and
the SafeWiFi Campaign. WTISD-HK is an annual activity
organised by the CAHK to promote the latest developments
in information and communications technology industries
to the public, especially the youth and academic
communities. Co-sponsored by OFCA and the Office of
the Government Chief Information Officer, the SafeWiFi
Campaign is an annual event organised by the Hong Kong
Wireless Technology Industry Association to promote public

awareness of the importance of WiFi security.

Publicity Initiatives to Promote the Role
and Functions of the CA and OFCA

Publicity initiatives to promote CA’s regulatory roles in
the communications sector and the professional support

given to the CA by OFCA as its executive arm continued

in 2015/16. We joined the Education & Careers Expo
organised by the Hong Kong Trade Development Council
in January 2016 by setting up an exhibition booth to
introduce the statutory functions of the CA, and the duties
of and career opportunities in OFCA to the public. Other
activities included arranging student career talks cum visits
to the Radio Monitoring Unit of OFCA, and public talks on
the work of OFCA in cooperation with other government
departments. The column “OFCA Close Up” on OFCA's

website informs the community on OFCA's activities.

The Work of Advisory Committees
Telecommunications Advisory Committees

Three advisory committees — the Telecommunications
Regulatory Affairs Advisory Committee, the Radio Spectrum
and Technical Standards Advisory Committee, and the
Telecommunications Users and Consumers Advisory
Committee — were established under OFCA in June 2012.
These committees provide a regular and formal channel
for the industry, telecommunications service users and
interested parties to advise OFCA on the formulation and
implementation of various telecommunications regulatory

measures and policies.

Members of the advisory committees are drawn from
different parts of the telecommunications industry,
relevant government departments and non-governmental
organisations, as well as from the general public. This
helps provide a balanced representation of views on, at
times, highly technical and complex issues. The term of

appointment is two years.

The membership lists of the three advisory committees as at
31 March 2016 can be found in Appendix B.

Television and Radio Consultative Scheme

The role of the Television and Radio Consultative Scheme
is to provide qualitative input on television and radio
programming to the CA’s public consultation process.
Members are appointed from the territory’s 18 districts.
In 2015/16, OFCA invited members to give their views
during the public consultation exercise for the renewal of
the domestic pay television programme service licence of
HKCTV.
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Human Resource Management
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OFCA organises a variety of staff activities to foster a greater sense of belonging and to let our staff members understand the importance of
work-life balance.
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OFFICE OF THE COMMUNICATIONS AUTHORITY

An Energetic and Versatile Workforce

To provide professional support to the CA in the fast-
changing and ever-advancing environment of the
communications industry, we adopt a pro-active, forward-
looking and integrated approach to human resource
management and strategic manpower planning.
Organisational reviews are conducted regularly to ensure
the most effective and efficient use of available manpower

resources.

As at 31 March 2016, we had 445 staff, comprising 330
civil servants and 115 staff members employed on non-civil

service contract terms.

Training and Development

We attach great importance to the training and
development of our staff members and strive to enhance
their professional knowledge and capabilities to deal with
the challenges posed by the rapidly evolving environment,
such as emerging new technologies, increasing public
demands and internal driving forces arising from various

business initiatives.

A variety of vocational and managerial courses and in-house
training programmes were conducted in 2015/16, including
courses on competition law, law enforcement, prosecution
and investigation skills, information and communications

technology, management and leadership, languages,

communications, integrity management, personal data
management, and national studies. We arranged overseas
management programmes for senior staff to broaden their
exposure and prepare them for challenges ahead. We
continued to sponsor staff members on courses organised
by international organisations and overseas institutions,
such as those provided by the King’s College London, to
enhance their technical and professional skills. For effective
enforcement of the CO coming into full effect in December
2015, we engaged local and overseas experts on the
subject to conduct seminars for staff whose work involved
the CO. The trainee count for the year was 1 048 and the
training man-day count was 1 120.

We participated in the “Employees Retraining Board (“ERB")
Manpower Developer Award Scheme” organised by the
ERB in 2015-16. In March 2016, OFCA was accredited
by the ERB as a Manpower Developer for demonstrating
outstanding achievements in manpower training and

development.

Awards and Commendations

In 2015/16, seven OFCA staff members received the
Director-General's Commendation for Meritorious Service,
11 received the Director-General's Commendation for Long
and Valuable Service, 17 received the Long and Meritorious
Service Award, and three received the Long and Meritorious

Service Travel Award.

Recreational Activities and Volunteer
Services

To help our staff members develop a healthy lifestyle
and foster a greater sense of belonging with their co-
workers, we regularly organise staff recreational activities,
including outings, luncheon talks, sports activities and an
annual departmental dinner gathering. Our staff members
participated in the Corporate Games 2016 organised by the
Leisure and Cultural Services Department. To shoulder our
social responsibility and show our care for the community,
we regularly participate in a number of volunteer and
charity events. We have been awarded the “Caring
Organisation” logo by the Hong Kong Council of Social

Service every year since 2007.

TRADING FUND REPORT 2015/16

n
=)
<)
©
=
o
=
~
I
f=
=
Q
=}
X
(o]
w
(<]
c
=
(o]
o
=
Q
=)
Q
Q
o
=)
o
=]
=3

'
Sy




BHEREERRAE 201516 FEEESRES

BAFE AR

Financial Results

2015 16 FEEBAFEHRE Financial Results 2015/16

1. WEAMSEESMS > 2015716 1. 2015/16 was a challenging year for the OFCA Trading Fund. The

FERRTMABEN—F - R H
2014,/ 15 FEM8, 6508 BT NEBKE
7,6608%8TT - BT EEFIFELHRE
TH—FEBNI24.2%BAPE16.3% - EE
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BEEEE EFFERS MK -
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HMNER SR USRI

. EXHAE 2015 16EEEETH EF
6.6%ZF4.245EFBT 0 EBHNELKA
MEEREIG M - DUR R EWIREIE B R
BEEEETRE -

- RERR BABAEBMAFERLE
PRELEE - BAMEERENY BN
M BB ERE K - R RERN
ErEkE

profit before tax fell to HK$76.6 million from HK$86.5 million in
2014/15. The rate of return on average net fixed assets (ANFA)
decreased to 16.3% from 24.2% a year before. This was primarily
the result of increased operating expenditure, partly offset by a
decrease in ANFA.

. The total revenue at HK$501.1 million was higher than the amount

of HK$484.6 million last year due to higher revenue from licence fees
and increased interest income from the placement with the Exchange
Fund.

. On the expenditure side, the total expenditure rose by 6.6% to

HK$424.5 million in 2015/16 mainly due to an increase in staff costs
and consultancy fees, as well as provision of impairment loss on debt
items.

. Looking ahead, we are optimistic that the communications sector in

Hong Kong will remain vibrant and dynamic. With a robust financial
position and a dedicated and professional team in OFCA, we are well
placed to face the challenges in the coming year.
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2015 16 FEEBAFEHRE Financial Results 2015/16

BIHBHE : Highlights of the financial performance:
2015/16 2014/15
B8ET BEBT
HK$'m HKS$'m
WA Revenue 501.1 484.6
= H Expenditure 424.5 398.1
BRI & A Pre-tax profit 76.6 86.5
BERE Proposed dividend 63.8 72.2
B E & E T3 ERHR Return on ANFA 16.3% 24.2%
XA Revenue

H#ABE Licence fees
85.9% (85.8%)

FR¥EE Service charges
5.0% (5.2%)

FIBULA Interest income
8.9% (7.7%)

I A Miscellaneous revenue
0.2% (1.3%)

X it Expenditure

BT staff
78.4% (79.1%)

#3i& Operation
15.8% (16.9%)

ITE K4 Depreciation & amortisation
FEURIRFUR{ER5$8 Impairment loss on debtors 3.2% (3.3%)
1.2% (0.0%)

B8R Consultancy
1.4% (0.7%)
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Report of the Director of Audit

Audit Commission
The Government of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region

Independent Audit Report
To the Legislative Council

| certify that | have examined and audited the financial statements of the
Office of the Communications Authority Trading Fund set out on pages
49 to 78, which comprise the statement of financial position as at 31
March 2016, and the statement of comprehensive income, statement of
changes in equity and statement of cash flows for the year then ended,
and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory

information.

General Manager, Office of the
Communications Authority Trading Fund’s
Responsibility for the Financial Statements

The General Manager, Office of the Communications Authority Trading
Fund is responsible for the preparation of financial statements that give
a true and fair view in accordance with section 7(4) of the Trading Funds
Ordinance (Cap. 430) and Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards,
and for such internal control as the General Manager, Office of the
Communications Authority Trading Fund determines is necessary to
enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material

misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor’s Responsibility

My responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements
based on my audit. | conducted my audit in accordance with section
7(5) of the Trading Funds Ordinance and the Audit Commission
auditing standards. Those standards require that | comply with ethical
requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material

misstatement.
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Report of the Director of Audit

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about
the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures
selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment
of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements,
whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the
auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation
of financial statements that give a true and fair view in order to design
audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for
the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s
internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of
accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates
made by the General Manager, Office of the Communications Authority
Trading Fund, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the
financial statements.

| believe that the audit evidence | have obtained is sufficient and

appropriate to provide a basis for my audit opinion.

Opinion

In my opinion, the financial statements give a true and fair view of the
state of affairs of the Office of the Communications Authority Trading
Fund as at 31 March 2016, and of its results of operations and cash
flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards and have been properly prepared in accordance with
the manner provided in section 7(4) of the Trading Funds Ordinance.

\\

.. \ _ \\AJ AT
oY f/

LAU Sun-wo
Assistant Director of Audit
for Director of Audit

Audit Commission
26th Floor, Immigration Tower

7 Gloucester Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong

30 August 2016
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HiF5ERE Financial Statements
LS ES Statement of Comprehensive Income
HE2016F3A31HLEE for the year ended 31 March 2016
(LUBHEF Tl ) (Expressed in thousands of Hong Kong dollars)
ﬂiii 2016 2015
Turnover 3 455,685 441,550
BIERA Operating costs 4 (424,468) (398,119)
EERF Profit from operations 31,217 43,431
HngA Other income 5 45,389 43,024
ZENERIIEN Profit before notional profits tax 76,606 86,455
BEMNER Notional profits tax 6 (12,842) (14,273)
FERF Profit for the year 63,764 72,182
Hith2mkzs Other comprehensive income - -
FERZEUE Total comprehensive income for the year 63,764 72,182
ElE EEEHRE Rate of return on fixed assets 7 16.3% 24.2%

E53E78EMME AR HB®ERN—EB4 o The notes on pages 53 to 78 form part of these financial statements.
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S ES Financial Statements
BIFEIR T Statement of Financial Position
72016%F3H31H as at 31 March 2016
(LUE#SF T 5I7) (Expressed in thousands of Hong Kong dollars)
Myt
Note 2016 2015
EREEE Non-current assets
M2~ BRIV Property, plant and equipment 8 153,323 159,401
ML EE Intangible assets 9 3,478 3,030
INEEESHER Placement with the Exchange Fund 10 875,281 829,651
1,032,082 992,082
mENEE Current assets
FEUMRSR ~ IRENTESFIE  Debtors, deposits and advance payments 1M 2,724 2,633
e B 2 A T HRFR Amounts due from related parties 21 - 330
FEWSMERE S TRAE Interest receivable from placement with the
Exchange Fund 7,181 11,251
HihEWR B Other interest receivable 515 469
SRITIER Bank deposits 234,500 287,000
R NRITHER Cash and bank balances 9,819 9,137
254,739 310,820
mEBEE Current liabilities
FERMIRFN A FERT & A Creditors and accruals 25,869 21,157
EEBRBE Provision for employee benefits 13 7,110 6,431
FESERE A LIRFR Amounts due to related parties 21 26,985 25,870
EIEW N Deferred income 14 161,046 172,471
FE 2 ZE=FBR Notional profits tax payable 7,291 10,012
228,301 235,941
RBBEESE Net current assets 26,438 74,879
BEERERDERE Total assets less current liabilities 1,058,520 1,066,961
ERBEE Non-current liabilities
IRFEFK Deferred tax 12 1,376 1,357
BERF#E Provision for employee benefits 13 90,815 90,857
92,191 92,214
FEE NET ASSETS 966,329 974,747
=N CAPITAL AND RESERVES
BEESERXR Trading fund capital 15 212,400 212,400 N
BEGE Development reserve 16 690,165 690,165 _003;
RBEF Retained earnings 17 = - T
HERE Proposed dividend 18 63,764 72,182 e
966,329 974,747 -
2
$532 78BN AR K#REZMN—ELD o The notes on pages 53 to 78 form part of these financial statements. 3
/ L
/KJ
o 2
_.E’\'."_.-J"L\ - {\ - £
A E LT “ Miss Eliza Lee &
BAELEERBAST General Manager,
SEREDRKE Office of the Communications Authority Trading Fund

2016488 30H 30 August 2016
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HATE#RER Financial Statements

EmEER Statement of Changes in Equity

HZE2016F3831HLEE for the year ended 31 March 2016

(LUE#SF T 5I7) (Expressed in thousands of Hong Kong dollars)

FHREER Balance at beginning of year 974,747 981,982
FEEDHEB R Total comprehensive income for the year 63,764 72,182
FREMKE Dividend paid during the year (72,182) (79,417)
FRR LR Balance at end of year 966,329 974,747

$53R78EMMEE AR KMREZAN—EBD o The notes on pages 53 to 78 form part of these financial statements.
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Financial Statements

BRIk

HRERER Statement of Cash Flows
HZE2016F3831HLEE for the year ended 31 March 2016
(LUEBETF TP ) (Expressed in thousands of Hong Kong dollars)
EEHBZRERE Cash flows from operating activities
EERA Profit from operations
FIEWA Sundry income
HE GHEWE  RER Loss on disposal of property, plant and
BN EE equipment
M~ RIBRBIMITE Depreciation of property, plant and
equipment
B & EE s Amortisation of intangible assets

FEWIESR « & NTEMNFRIE  Increase in debtors, deposits and advance
=0 payments
FEW BE B A TIRFEA Decrease / (Increase) in amounts due from
(3Em) related parties
ﬁ%{?‘ﬂl}%%ﬂ?ﬁéﬁﬁﬁﬁ #10,  Increase / (Decrease) in creditors and accruals
A
FET BB A LIRSS M,

Increase / (Decrease) in amounts due to

CRAM) related parties
EIEUA CRA) /3200 (Decrease) / Increase in deferred income
BB @R B HEIE N Increase in provision for employee benefits
EN2ENER Notional profits tax paid
EEREMBREFH Net cash from operating activities
REEHZRERE Cash flows from investing activities
HSMEE BB N Increase in placement with the Exchange

Fund

Decrease / (Increase) in bank deposits with
original maturity over three months

BEMZE - RERBM K Acquisition of property, plant and equipment
‘EILEE and intangible assets

HEWE « BIBENBHMETE  Net proceeds from disposal of property, plant
EU AR and equipment

FEHRRA=EH LN
RITHEFOBD 7 (380)

EUF S Interest received
BEBEMRE (FFR) Net cash from / (used in) investing
HEF8E activities
MEREZRERE Cash flows from financing activities
EAKE Dividend paid
MEEEFRAREFH Net cash used in financing activities
HERZERIRESAEM Net increase / (decrease) in cash and

(R4 ) 38

cash equivalents

FUNREERERRE Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of
year
FRORERERIRE Cash and cash equivalents at end of year

TRADING FUND REPORT 2015/16

MisE

Norie 2016 2015

31,217 43,431

769 5,820

5 -

12,632 12,348

1,091 825
(77) (112)
330 (330)
3,300 (11,718)
1,760 (2,581)

(11,425) 9,476

637 5,800
(15,544) (15,584)

24,695 47,375
(45,631) (28,830)
51,900 (30,200)
(7,344) (4,785)

- 21

48,644 33,698
47,569 (30,096)
(72,182) (79,417)
(72,182) (79,417)
82 (62,138)

16,337 78,475

19 16,419 16,337

E53278EMME AR HEREAN—EBS ° The notes on pages 53 to 78 form part of these financial statements.
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BAfEERER Financial Statements

B 75 R R MIEE Notes to the Financial Statements
(BRUZBIZERES) - BT £ LUBISFTIZ - ) (Amount expressed in thousands of Hong Kong dollars, unless otherwise
stated.)

2

BINERTE1995F5 B 103 ik (&=
HEKHFIY (5430 ) 53 4615
BIBRE  M1995F6 A 1HRIIES
BER (BAR) £EES - ENB
BEESIBEMT2012FE481HERE
MR (CBIEEEERKL) (5616
B) F256MBE  RRBEFHA
B TEAEESERMAT (AAM)
EEAES, (BEES) - BAFBEE
2R (AAR) BIRE (BREBEE
BB BRIIRYETEHMRE - B BAIR
BABMBTEM - BAREEERMN
BT (ERHEBA) (F562F) ~ (E
% (HIERG) KE) (8391F)
(CBMEBEEERGH) - (BMKE
By (2£106%) B (FEAEFAE
BBIY (Z593F) - WIRENREMT
AMERBIEITE MBI - EEESFEN
ERFRAITHREBAT (BHT) MEBEK
RERRER  ZEANENETEER
BFE -

E

() EMRFLEERZERBNFEMN
RE

(0 BB ERLRERMSFER
BUTRMHEEE A ~ REIMIERT

(d) BEBERMREMEREEE LEE
BUFAE

(e) BT CFEEABTAEMHEM) LU
&

() BMABANAELBEFRXZXRDAFEN
FIEMETAFHRSE

1. General

The Office of the Telecommunications Authority (OFTA) Trading
Fund was established on 1 June 1995 under the Legislative Council
Resolution passed on 10 May 1995 pursuant to sections 3, 4 and
6 of the Trading Funds Ordinance (Cap. 430). By virtue of section
25 of the Communications Authority Ordinance (CAO) (Cap. 616)
which came into operation on 1 April 2012, the OFTA Trading Fund
was renamed as the Office of the Communications Authority (OFCA)
Trading Fund (the Fund) on the same date. OFCA serves as the
executive arm of the Communications Authority (CA), which is a
statutory body set up under the CAO to administer and enforce the
Broadcasting Ordinance (Cap. 562), the Broadcasting (Miscellaneous
Provisions) Ordinance (Cap. 391), the CAQ, the Telecommunications
Ordinance (Cap. 106) and the Unsolicited Electronic Messages
Ordinance (UEMO) (Cap. 593), and to perform any function under
or by virtue of any Ordinance. The Fund, which is under the policy
portfolio of the Commerce and Economic Development Bureau of
the Government of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region
(the Government), supports the principal activities of the CA, as
follows:

(@) licensing and regulating telecommunications services and
broadcasting services;

(b) managing Hong Kong's radio frequency spectrum;

(©) providing advisory, planning and support services on
telecommunications, broadcasting, anti-spamming matters to
the Government;

(d) overseeing technical standards and representing the
Government on international affairs;

(e) enforcing the UEMO; and

(f) ensuring the enforcement of fair trading practices and fair
competition in relation to telecommunications and broadcasting
sectors.
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2. EEFEEER

(a)

(b)

R BHRERRBEBARNE S
FRRAINFBEBERNEBMERERE
8 (EFAEHE  EPEREET
SR AEEMMATEERNERE
B BREEA ~ FEEFEAR
2R RR - 2BESRMNER
DEBCRBZENT -

i 2 BT 75 R 2R RO B i

AU HREORLER LU ER
AEEHE

RRTETBYBREENNT I
Wk TEEEE LI - A5
KRR - A~ At RBRg
FESHBORNER - LREEHR
B EMBRA ST M2 |WRE - &
Fihst KRR - BRLUER
RELEMEERBL THRAGE
HARRMBIET o fHER2BHMIK
BEAH2E > BERARSMAE
RBRERFIBEREENEEN
IREERER - EEHERNBHE
BREEBAMAR -

ZFhET MR RR G R R
] - MBIIRAXERGHE - &
FEEHERT MR - BURE
KRR > BRETE
SEZPLARRME R -

2. Significant accounting policies

(a)

(b)

Statement of compliance

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with accounting principles generally accepted in Hong Kong
and all applicable Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
(HKFRSs), a collective term which includes all applicable
individual HKFRSs, Hong Kong Accounting Standards (HKASs)
and Interpretations issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (HKICPA). A summary of the
significant accounting policies adopted by the Fund is set out
below.

Basis of preparation of the financial statements

The measurement basis used in the preparation of the financial
statements is historical cost.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with
HKFRSs requires management to make judgements, estimates
and assumptions that affect the application of policies
and reported amounts of assets and liabilities, income and
expenses. The estimates and associated assumptions are
based on historical experience and various other factors that
are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances, the
results of which form the basis for making judgements about
carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily
apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ from
these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on
an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the
revision affects only that period, or in the period of the revision
and future periods if the revision affects both current and

future periods.
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2. XEEEBER (/)

(b) WREEATFMETAIERE (#7)

(9]

EEESHERITBOR A EILA
W RAT B RN & ST HIET - B
HWARRIEHWERE » HERESHE
REFEHARPAEENAERAR
= BERRLEBREARRR B
EEMNAENIRASBERFENRE
(ERI

EEEE

MR1995F6 A1 HBEREEESMN
BEEE  ROUNKAERIRAIL
7EBTE19954E5 A 10 B BIBAYRZE
FRATFIMfEEANR - B199546A
THERENBEEEE » WRHEE
BNERMNERFAZALRE -

(i) Y% RigL&H

TR~ R RBEMERR

BAEINRRRFTE RAEMR

BEFEEYR (M 2(d)

- BAERIIARMEEEMN M
RARELNBERYE

- RimkEM o BEEMEE
B BIEARR  &EE
KENEG -

TERZRREME - RIBKSF
MEMERTAIMERFS - ERE
HAFTRIGRE  BUEKREE
HHEBAE - BENAERS
BN -

2. Significant accounting policies (continued)

(b) Basis of preparation of the financial statements

(9]

(continued)

There are no critical accounting judgements involved in the
application of the Fund's accounting policies. There are
also no key assumptions concerning the future, or other key
sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting
period, that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in
the next year.

Fixed assets

The fixed assets appropriated to the Fund on 1 June 1995
were measured initially at deemed cost equal to the value
contained in the Resolution of the Legislative Council passed
on 10 May 1995. Fixed assets acquired since 1 June 1995 are
capitalised at the actual costs of acquisition or installation.

(i) Property, plant and equipment

The following items of property, plant and equipment

are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any

impairment losses (note 2(d)):

- land classified as held under a finance lease and
building held for own use situated thereon;

- plant and equipment, including telecommunications
and broadcasting equipment, computer systems,
furniture, fixtures and motor vehicles.

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of items
of property, plant and equipment, less their estimated
residual value, on a straight-line basis over their estimated
useful lives as follows:
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2. EEREECER ()

BE&EE (#)

(9

(i)

(i)

W~ RN (1)

- WIARME  RBIFER
RS  FHFE
- URHEEL  RRESEE
9 E FHARAIE

REHRmE
RS E
TE

- RE 5E124F

- BERKE 54
- REARKE  S5F
- B 54

HE FEEWE - RBREM
FTEANBER R ERMSF
HMEEERMECETRE
T ARHE EHERES
T a8 3% A HERR.

BIEE

B, EEBRBANBERMG
BREEERMMCNBHRAE
HABKAE - WBERMAE
NAERMEAT  MEEES
BRBEBRMEECHKRAET
£ BENFEREASRES
£ - EXMLERBRERTE
RYKRER - B EELRKA
BEINRR R EMRERS
Bk (faE2(d)) -

2. Significant accounting policies (continued)

(c) Fixed assets (continued)

(i)

(i)

Property, plant and equipment (continued)
- Land classified as held over the unexpired term
under a finance lease of lease
- Buildings situated on over the shorter of the
leasehold land unexpired term of lease

and their useful lives

- Equipment 5to 12 years
- Computer systems 5 years
- Furniture and fixtures 5 years
- Motor vehicles 5 years

Gains or losses arising from the disposal of property,
plant and equipment are determined as the difference
between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying
amount of the asset and are recognised in the statement
of comprehensive income on the date of disposal.

Intangible assets

Intangible assets include acquired computer software
licences and capitalised development costs of computer
software programs. Expenditure on development of
computer software programs is capitalised if the programs
are technically feasible and the Fund has sufficient
resources and intention to complete development. The
expenditure capitalised includes direct labour and cost
of materials. Intangible assets are stated at cost less
accumulated amortisation and any impairment losses (note

2(d)).
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B 75 R R MIEE Notes to the Financial Statements
(BR45RIGERES) - BRE £ LB FIT([LF > )  (Amount expressed in thousands of Hong Kong dollars, unless otherwise
stated.)
2. XESEEEE (F) 2. Significant accounting policies (continued)
(0 BEEEE (#&) (c) Fixed assets (continued)
(iy BLEE (/) (i) Intangible assets (continued)
M EENBEIRSFR124F Amortisation of intangible assets is charged to the
NEEMTAIERERLUER statement of comprehensive income on a straight-line
EIIAZ MK basis over the assets' estimated useful lives of 5 to 12
years.
(d) BEEEERRE (d) Impairment of fixed assets
BEEEE (BEYE  RiBNFIM The carrying amounts of fixed assets, including property,
MEFEE) WIRAEESERS plant and equipment and intangible assets, are reviewed at
AR ERHE - IREB S LI the end of each reporting period to identify any indication of
BEIFR - impairment.
MERBEDR  85&EENKRE If any such indication exists, an impairment loss is recognised
EBEeR Ak C&2E - BIEEREE in the statement of comprehensive income whenever the
BESEIENAERAER - EE carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount.
B AT [ B8R ms EL A BB HE & K The recoverable amount of an asset is the greater of its fair
KEFREMETNRSE - value less costs to sell and value in use.
(e) RIBEEHSMAME (e) Financial assets and financial liabilities
(i) FDIRTER (i) Initial recognition
SEASREVNEEESNS The Fund classifies its financial assets and financial
HaeERMmAZEsEEN liabilities into different categories at inception, depending
B EDIRERKERIK on the purpose for which the assets were acquired or
;o LEEMEREsE - the liabilities were incurred. The categories are loans and

receivables, and other financial liabilities.
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2. XEEEIBER (/)

(e) EREEREMEME (/)

(i)

iamER ()

CHEENESBEERIEA
FESE AFEEERERN
BRE > MEABESREE
NELESHEEMEESIB
RBHA °

LEESHERABEEESMTIA
NENER—TTZ ARBHEE
TREENERAE -

garl

SRR

EREEW IR B B E A
D E I8 @ BEERD
BRBERE BEEESHET
FREERZMBNIFITEER
EE - HWEIREB BEEKIK
R RSB E A LIRSR ~ FEUK
MEINERESHER  RITHE
P RMERIRITHEER ©

B R FE Wk SRR A B BR R
REREHERANENRERE
BiE (ma) sk (KizE2(e)
(iv)) °

2. Significant accounting policies (continued)

(e) Financial assets and financial liabilities (continued)

(i)

Initial recognition (continued)

Financial assets and financial liabilities are measured
initially at fair value, which normally equals to the
transaction prices plus transaction costs that are directly
attributable to the acquisition of the financial assets or
issue of the financial liabilities.

The Fund recognises financial assets and financial
liabilities on the date it becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the instrument.

Categorisation

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets
with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted
in an active market and which the Fund has no intention
of trading. This category includes debtors, amounts due
from related parties, interest receivable, placement with
the Exchange Fund, bank deposits and cash and bank
balances.

Loans and receivables are carried at amortised cost using
the effective interest method less impairment losses, if any
(note 2(e)(iv)).

TRADING FUND REPORT 2015/16
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2. XEEEIBER (/)

(e) EREEREMEME (/)

(i)

(iii)

2 (18)
SRR BRI (1)

BERANX LR ESHEEN
TR EENBHEKARE LUK
B EEREMRENN S U
XHIITTE - BERANERZRET
HEMITAERTEREMAE
(EANBEHE ) ANTE
FHRGWA RS - BB
THEENSRMEENREF
EFFEMNIERE - 2EES
A EHERAER @282
B T AMATE G RSEMERT
RBEng  EAEEARNGE
EEE - AR EERREER
AR RI AT B BT
TENBHINER XZEAE
KA HAbREITE -

Hitemas

Hits b & ERAERFRE
ZEERAETIR

sHEE R

ENEREENNREREN
BRENERE NESHE
EERERENAE EZAR
ROREREER > ZEME
EEWTHESR -

EANERNEBREER - I
HEEIHE > ZEMEEER
AHEHHERR

2. Significant accounting policies (continued)

(e) Financial assets and financial liabilities (continued)

(i)

(iii)

Categorisation (continued)
Loans and receivables (continued)

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a financial asset or a financial liability
and of allocating the interest income or interest expense
over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the
rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts
or payments through the expected life of the financial
instrument or, when appropriate, a shorter period to the
net carrying amount of the financial asset or financial
liability. When calculating the effective interest rate, the
Fund estimates cash flows considering all contractual
terms of the financial instruments but does not consider
future credit losses. The calculation includes all fees
received or paid between parties to the contract that are
an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction
costs and all other premiums or discounts.

Other financial liabilities

Other financial liabilities are carried at amortised cost
using the effective interest method.

Derecognition

A financial asset is derecognised when the contractual
rights to receive the cash flows from the financial
asset expire, or where the financial asset together with
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership have
been transferred.

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation
specified in the contract is discharged or cancelled, or
when it expires.
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2. XEEEIBER (/)

(e) EREEREMEME (/)

(iv) EREENRE

SRR EWIRRAIREER
B &P HER B ETEE - 20
ERBERETREERE &
SHABBERSR - BIESE
EEMRMERZEERRE
BAM KRS N E TR R
BRASHENREHNERE
FTE - ERERESEER
WEER - WAEHIEIRS KB -
AR E R B E R A HIRE R
2 MES SR ERIERER
BRBEMEMHHERE > AERR
NEHEE - BEEEESRBR
BEBERESWREDEE  §F
SRS WL -

() BEFMEHR

(i)

(ii)

RE\E (BHEHEED) (58112
) ZEESVENBE
T BEAEREEESER
B — R A A — IR
DRBENER (REMNEF
B) o ZEIERRE (RBHK
By MRERME - AFEEA
FNER BB AR
ELERAEERBBNES -

R R R A EH ERBUL
AR ERERBEERHE
R EBERBBR KT ER TR
B LEEUEFERE
IBRRAETRZEE -

2. Significant accounting policies (continued)

(e) Financial assets and financial liabilities (continued)

(iv) Impairment of financial assets

The carrying amounts of loans and receivables are
reviewed at the end of each reporting period. An
impairment loss is recognised when there is objective
evidence that an asset is impaired. The amount of the
loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s
carrying amount and the present value of estimated future
cash flows discounted at the asset’s original effective
interest rate. Any impairment loss is recognised in profit
or loss and reflected in an allowance account. If in a
subsequent period, the amount of such impairment loss
decreases and the decrease can be linked objectively to an
event occurring after the impairment loss was recognised,
the impairment loss is reversed through the profit or
loss. When the Fund considers that there are no realistic
prospects of recovery of the asset, the relevant amounts
are written off.

(f) Notional profits tax

(i)

(i)

The Fund has no tax liability under the Inland Revenue
Ordinance (Cap.112). However, the Government requires
the Fund to pay to the General Revenue an amount in lieu
of profits tax (i.e. notional profits tax) calculated on the
basis of the provisions of the Inland Revenue Ordinance.
Notional profits tax expense for the year comprises current
tax and movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable
income for the year, using tax rates enacted or
substantively enacted at the end of the reporting period,
and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous
years.

TRADING FUND REPORT 2015/16
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2. XEEEIBER (/)

(f) =&EFEH (&)

(i) EERAEERGEIHEA

IRLERRNEREEEE
£ HBRMERRREENS
EAVIREE S E A B E R
EZE - BERAKEETAAR
ERRBBERRBEIEERM
EL -

FTBELEHR R EERPTARRK
AR RERM AN MEHRE
WA LUE SRR B & R RIE IR
REE  HTHER -

BELERFNEDBEEIREE
EREENREENAHER
B ERI  LEREMERA
EERMNER ECEBIBRE
FHH - BERREENERD
NMERIRETE -

BB REENREER S8
HEMERBETR W5
B A BEN S 4 FE AR A A R
DERZERBENG - QAR
EIREMEARR BRI - BB
BHEARHABERREN AL
HZR B O 5

(9) WAHERD

(i)

BB ETNELZWA » AAE
BRERP AR S P EE -
AR B WA RITEIR AR IB R
FERR » M BMA KA BERA X
ELAERT T TR

2. Significant accounting policies (continued)

(f) Notional profits tax (continued)

(iii) Deferred tax assets and liabilities arise from deductible

and taxable temporary differences respectively, being
the differences between the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and their
tax bases. Deferred tax assets also arise from unused tax

losses and unused tax credits.

All deferred tax liabilities, and all deferred tax assets to the
extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will
be available against which the assets can be utilised, are
recognised.

The amount of deferred tax recognised is measured based
on the expected manner of realisation or settlement of
the carrying amounts of the assets or liabilities, using tax
rates enacted or substantively enacted at the end of the
reporting period. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are not
discounted.

The carrying amount of a deferred tax asset is reviewed
at the end of each reporting period and is reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable
profit will be available to allow the related tax benefit to
be utilised. Any such deduction is reversed to the extent
that it becomes probable that sufficient taxable profit will
be available.

(g) Revenue recognition

(i)

Licence fees received are credited to deferred income and
amortised to profit and loss over the validity period of the
licences. Service income is recognised when services have
been provided. Interest income is recognised as it accrues
using the effective interest method.
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MBS - BEMEER RS
MHAESFEINERERE RS K
PR

REAL

EEESRRE (BEEESKM)
BN BREBTE TN —EEL
DETEM - AERAEEERESHNHE
FERBPBERNRBEEALET
R EHBERSARRERBUTH
Fi- @EES  DILKFEBIFATES
ABTHEEEREEDNMHE
TS

2. Significant accounting policies (continued)

(9)

(h)

)

Revenue recognition (continued)

(i) Realised gains or losses on financial instruments are
recognised in the statement of comprehensive income
when the financial instruments are derecognised.
Changes in fair value of trading financial instruments are
recognised as revaluation gains or losses in the statement
of comprehensive income in the period in which they arise.

(iiiy Other income is recognised on an accrual basis.

Employee benefits

The employees of the Fund comprise civil servants and contract
staff. Salaries, staff gratuities, and annual leave entitlements
are accrued and recognised as expenditure in the year in
which the associated services are rendered by the staff. For
civil servants, staff on-costs, including pensions and housing
benefits provided to the staff by the Government, are charged
as expenditure in the year in which the associated services are
rendered.

For civil servants employed on pensionable terms, their pension
liabilities are discharged by reimbursement of the staff on-cost
charged by the Government. For other staff, contributions
to the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme are charged to the
statement of comprehensive income as incurred.

Related parties

The Fund is a separate accounting entity within the
Government established under the Trading Funds Ordinance.
During the year, the Fund has entered into transactions with
various related parties, including government bureaux and
departments, trading funds and financially autonomous bodies
controlled or significantly influenced by the Government, in
the ordinary course of its business.

TRADING FUND REPORT 2015/16
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2. EEGEEEEE (4£) 2. Significant accounting policies (continued)

() SrsirE (j) Foreign currency translation
FRIINERBEMNNRZERZH Foreign currency transactions during the year are translated
MIREEXRBREABIT o DUSTL into Hong Kong dollars using the spot exchange rates at the
SINEBRBEMNEBEERER transaction dates. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated
BLREPHERANKmERRE in currencies other than Hong Kong dollars are translated into
RABTT c FTANEMEZRIIES Hong Kong dollars using the closing exchange rate at the
MW SRR ATE end of the reporting period. All foreign currency translation

differences are recognised in the statement of comprehensive
income.

k) ReRFRRL (k) Cash and cash equivalents
ReRERBESBRERSMRTHE Cash and cash equivalents include cash and bank balances,
£ IRBERBA B EA and other short-term, highly liquid investments that are readily
KE - ZEREABERFERAEA convertible to known amounts of cash and subject to an
BIEMRE - BATSKNEEEZS insignificant risk of changes in value, having been within three
BBEAK @ WAERATEARIEE months of maturity when placed or acquired.
MEAEB=MEA -

() BEEREBERE (I) Provisions and contingent liabilities
AT E A N E AR LR Provisions are recognised for liabilities of uncertain timing or
EEE - MXARFENHLBR amount when there is a legal or constructive obligation arising
BLIBITZIEET » WA A St as a result of a past event, it is probable that an outflow of
{HEDS RS RERT - A ZIETEFE economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation and
e EEREENEERER a reliable estimate can be made. Where the time value of
NMERNSEEBER  AlgkE money is material, provisions are stated at the present value of
FTRITZEEEERIMNRESE the expenditure expected to settle the obligation.

HEERE -
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2. XEEEIBER (/)

)

(m)

BiaREARE (&)

AAEAREAURERANHEE
RE - A A RS
] ZEEEEUHBEENTN
KE - FRIFRNHREAEN TR
ME - ERREEERRESRE
ARAZREMHTERESSTHE
NAEE - TELUTEEENTY
IWEE - BRIFAN BN ERNA
BEMEMLE -

RS SET RO T B R 5 R

L

BRI AREEATETHT
AT 9B B R
NG R AR AR -

B PR A B T 5 T 2 SR Y
SHEA - BAREAERRALR
st -

EEES U RARMEMEARET
B ARAE N B B R S 2L
(K%L 23) -

2. Significant accounting policies (continued)

(I) Provisions and contingent liabilities (continued)

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits
will be required, or the amount cannot be estimated reliably,
the obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the
probability of outflow of economic benefits is remote. Possible
obligations, whose existence will only be confirmed by the
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more future events,
are also disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the probability
of outflow of economic benefits is remote.

(m) Impact of new and revised HKFRSs

The HKICPA has issued certain new and revised HKFRSs that
are first effective or available for early adoption for the current
accounting period. There have been no changes to the
accounting policies applied in these financial statements for
the years presented as a result of these developments.

The Fund has not applied any new HKFRSs that are not yet
effective for the current accounting period (note 23).
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3. EXE 3. Turnover
2016 2015
BERE Telecommunications licence fees
MR -5/ Licences — Private 41,258 40,961
RRER — A%t Licences — Public 336,343 327,907
EREIE R E Broadcasting licence fees 52,624 47,105
MEAEATRERS (ME 21@)) Services provided to related parties
(note 21(a)) 25,127 25,010
FEIFUA Miscellaneous revenue 333 567
455,685 441,550
4. EEREF 4. Operating costs
BTEA Staff costs 332,974 315,068
NS () D N Accommodation costs 19,247 18,421
EFAX Operating expenses 29,064 28,725
TR Administrative expenses 18,023 19,447
EERE Consultancy fees 5,791 2,790
M ~ R RBVITE Depreciation of property, plant
and equipment 12,632 12,348
R E R Amortisation of intangible assets 1,091 825
PR SR E R R Impairment loss on debtors 5,097 -
FHEH Audit fees 549 495

424,468 398,119
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5. HthilgA 5. Other income
FELUAFETIRMNSEE EF BUA Interest income from financial assets
not at fair value
INEESTR Placement with the Exchange
Fund 41,561 32,972
RITHERK Bank deposits 3,058 4,218
RITHERR Bank balances 1 2
44,620 37,192
IR Sundry income 769 5,832
45,389 43,024
6. BEAEHK 6. Notional profits tax
() REEWHEFRATRINZENEBE (@) The notional profits tax charged to the statement of
mr comprehensive income is arrived at as follows:
RERFIFR Current tax
KEELZENERNEE Provision for notional profits
tax for the year 12,823 14,689
IRIEFFR Deferred tax
PR A AV EE A SOl Origination and reversal of
temporary differences 19 (416)
ZENER Notional profits tax 12,842 14,273

(@)
=
Q
°
(=g
)
=
(04}

S}|jnsay |eDueuly




BHEREERRAE 201516 FEEESRES

VB R ES
BTSRRI

(B4 RIZEEAS - FRE £ 8RB F LI )

Financial Statements

Notes to the Financial Statements

(Amount expressed in thousands of Hong Kong dollars, unless otherwise
stated.)

6. BRFEH (&)

(b) FiIRZHEL&Fr & FIRE R B XA
SHHIRMOT ¢

ZENEHAIEA

HEBFEHRZE16.5%
(20154F : 16.5% ) sHEWNHIE

—BRBHIA
NIRRT &
SFERBRMARTIAR &

BERIAZ M

6. Notional profits tax (continued)

(b) The reconciliation between tax expense and accounting profit
at applicable tax rate is as follows:

2016 2015

Profit before notional profits
tax 76,606 86,455

Tax at Hong Kong profits tax

rate of 16.5% (2015: 16.5%) 12,640 14,265
One-off tax reduction (20) (20)
Tax effect of non-deductible

expenses 727 726
Tax effect of non-taxable

revenue (505) (698)
Notional tax expense 12,842 14,273

7. BEEERHE

BEEELRREXIUBZE MG (18
FER BN ~ BIMEESBERBIF B
ABBNBEFNEFRMNAEZE ) BRI
EEEEFIFEMENEDE - BEE
EEBEWME - KB NEM - LUER
LE HUBRASRETS  AHEER
SALIEIINEFEEEEEREHRE
56.7% (20158 1 6.7% ) »

7. Rate of return on fixed assets

The rate of return on fixed assets is calculated as total
comprehensive income (excluding interest income, notional profits
tax on interest income from placement with the Exchange Fund
and interest expenses) divided by average net fixed assets, and
expressed as a percentage. Fixed assets include property, plant and
equipment and intangible assets. The Fund is expected to meet a
target rate of return on fixed assets of 6.7% per year (2015: 6.7%)
as determined by the Financial Secretary.



OFFICE OF THE COMMUNICATIONS AUTHORITY  TRADING FUND REPORT 2015/16

HiF&ERZ= Financial Statements
Br 5 ER R EE Notes to the Financial Statements
(BR4ZRIZERES) » BT £ 881 LUBISFT(I%7 » ) (Amount expressed in thousands of Hong Kong dollars, unless otherwise
stated.)
8. % - ximkedtt 8. Property, plant and equipment
TR ZFER
BE B ES RN ®E B fazg
Land and Equipment Computer  Furniture Motor Total
buildings systems and vehicles
fixtures
A Cost
R2014F481H At 1 April 2014 220,243 53,520 40,235 46,789 4,921 365,708
wE Additions - 439 2,323 - - 2,762
HE FHeH Disposals - 25 (1,625) (74) - (1,724)
2015438310 At 31 March 2015 220,243 53,934 40,933 46,715 4921 366,746
7201548 1H At 1 April 2015 220,243 53,934 40,933 46,715 4,921 366,746
N Additions - 1,100 3,361 2,106 - 6,567
HE e Disposals - (245)  (1,629) (54) - (1,928)
M2016%F3H31H At 31 March 2016 220,243 54,789 42,665 48,767 4,921 371,385
REMIRE Accumulated depreciation
MR2014%481H At 1 April 2014 79,373 49,493 33,950 31,142 2,753 196,711
FRITE Charge for the year 4,849 882 1,833 4,094 690 12,348
e /sE8EE% Written back on disposal - 22)  (1,620) (72) - (1,714)
M201543831H At 31 March 2015 84,222 50,353 34,163 35,164 3,443 207,345
R201544H81H At 1 April 2015 84,222 50,353 34,163 35,164 3,443 207,345
ERITE Charge for the year 4,849 894 2,152 4,138 599 12,632
e /sH88EB  Written back on disposal - (245)  (1,626) (44) - (1,915)
F2016%FE3H31H At 31 March 2016 89,071 51,002 34,689 39,258 4,042 218,062
IREFE Net book value -
F2016E3H831H At 31 March 2016 131,172 3,787 7,976 9,509 879 153,323 é_
o
2015438310 At 31 March 2015 136,021 3,581 6,770 11,551 1,478 159,401 ®

m
>
Q
=
o
=
X
(]
©
=
—
7




BHEREERRAE 201516 FEER

Financial Statements

VB R ES
BTSRRI

(B4 RIZEEAS - FRE £ 8RB F LI )

Notes to the Financial Statements
(Amount expressed in thousands of Hong Kong dollars, unless otherwise

stated.)

9.

Intangible assets

BRIRRE R R RER
Computer software licences and

system development costs

2016 2015
A Cost
T4 At beginning of year 12,031 11,311
NE Additions 1,545 861
HE e Disposals (26) (141)
R At end of year 13,550 12,031
RETHH Accumulated amortisation
F4) At beginning of year 9,001 8,317
FEREEE Charge for the year 1,091 825
HE /o Written back on disposal (20) (141)
Fis At end of year 10,072 9,001
IREFE Net book value
Fig At end of year 3,478 3,030

10. SMEEBEEFF

IERSERIEERASET,528. 188
gt (20154F : 882,965 1&ET)
HP7EBTREBER  1187,528.1
BB (2015 F :14/2,965.18
#BIT) z%iﬁiﬁsﬁ%*ﬁﬁEIEME{H rﬁﬂ%%
BWF S - ZERRANE (BER

&5t) ’/H\QWKEJEEXEEZ?W\ °

NEESBEAANERSF1REENE
EREHE - ZEXAESREHESGS
ARFNTHEERERR  H=4F
HAMEREEEZ (H20165F1A1HE
REFHBNES) EL—EFEEN
FHEEWE  DRERPREERE
TRAE0% - 2016 FMNEE SR ASTE
3.3% ' 20155 REHF 5.5% °

10.

Placement with the Exchange Fund

The balance of the placement with the Exchange Fund amounted
to HK$875,281,000 (2015: HK$829,651,000),
original placement of HK$700,000,000 plus interest paid of
HK$175,281,000 (2015: HK$129,651,000) but not yet withdrawn
at the end of the reporting period. The term of the placement is

being the

six years from the date of placement, during which the amount of
original placement cannot be withdrawn.

Interest on the placement is payable at a fixed rate determined
every January. The rate is the average annual investment return of
the Exchange Fund’s Investment Portfolio for the past six years or
the average annual yield of three-year Exchange Fund Notes (three-
year Government Bond with effect from 1 January 2016) for the
previous year subject to a minimum of zero percent, whichever is
the higher. The interest rate has been fixed at 3.3% per annum for
the year 2016 and at 5.5% per annum for the year 2015.
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11. FEWDREX ~ IRE R FRFTFRIA 11. Debtors, deposits and advance payments

2016 2015
FEUIIRTR Debtors 7,177 307
R EBEFEER Less: allowance for impairment loss (5,097) -
2,080 307
BERFANFIE Deposits and advance payments 644 2,326
2,724 2,633
FRBEBEFEIREET The movement in the allowance for impairment loss during the year
is as follows:

2016 2015
T4 At beginning of year - -
EERRESE Impairment loss recognised 5,097 -
L At end of year 5,097 -
EEESH—REVHRERHEMATMMK Impairment loss was recognised on an amount due from a company
HNFEIERERBESE ° in financial difficulties.
12. IEFEFR FX 12. Deferred tax
EMBAR N R AERVIELER KK E % Deferred tax recognised in the statement of financial position arises
NEBITENBENITERTEE - 4 from depreciation allowances in excess of the related depreciation
NEBHZ2FNT : and amortisation. The movements during the year are as follows:
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2016 2015

FHHERR Balance at beginning of year 1,357 1,773 =
Q

REmEREEFRAINER " ([E158) Charged / (credited) to statement :
of comprehensive income 19 (416) o

FRAEER Balance at end of year 1,376 1,357 ?
7
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13. (R BB TR 13. Provision for employee benefits
RSt B G MR AP AR This represents the estimated liability for employees' annual leave
B TREREFERAESNEEN RSN and obligations on contract-end gratuities payable to contract staff
hEtaE (B RME2(Mh)) - for services rendered up to end of the reporting period (also see
note 2(h)).
14. EIEUTA 14. Deferred income
A R BB AR T B A ER S pY R R This represents the balance of licence fee income to be amortised
BUAFEER © over the remaining validity period of the licences.
15. B EEREXF 15. Trading fund capital
IABITHEERSHNIRE - This represents the Government's investment in the Fund.
16. HE B 16. Development reserve
I REE T B E A Z R B E R RAA % This is a reserve serving as a regulating mechanism to meet the
il o target return.
FRFHIER Balance at beginning and end of
year 690,165 690,165
17. (RE&F 17. Retained earnings
FEHEER Balance at beginning of year - -
FEREEmIE Total comprehensive income for
the year 63,764 72,182
BREE Proposed dividend (63,764) (72,182)
FHGERR Balance at end of year - -
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18. FEEIRE 18. Proposed dividend
AR EER S SRBFEE2IMK S The proposed dividend to the Government is based on the total
LR REZREBRBREZENSE comprehensive income for the year and the target dividend payout
EEEEESHM100%BZKREX ratio of 100% (2015: 100%) stated in the annual business plan
(20154 1 100% ) 1EH - approved by the Secretary for Financial Services and the Treasury.
FRHERR Balance at beginning of year 72,182 79,417
ENKE Dividend paid (72,182) (79.417)
BRES Dividend proposed 63,764 72,182
FERAEER Balance at end of year 63,764 72,182
19. RERFRRAE 19. Cash and cash equivalents
R MIRITHERR Cash and bank balances 9,819 9,137
RITHER Bank deposits 234,500 287,000
244,319 296,137
B BB R =8 A L EIRITHRER Less: Bank deposits with original
maturity beyond three months (227,900) (279,800)
REMFRRE Cash and cash equivalents 16,419 16,337

(@)
=
Q
°
(=g
)
=
(04}

S}|jnsay |eDueuly




BHEREERRAE 201516 FEEESRES

BiFEERE= Financial Statements

BE FS R R IMIEE Notes to the Financial Statements

(BRH5RIGERAS} - BT B 2 BBG LB F TG HT » ) (Amo:;wt expressed in thousands of Hong Kong dollars, unless otherwise
stated.

20. BRRIEREhEE 20. Capital commitments and other commitments

R2016FE3H31H EERSHAREE
MR EBAIEHEBHEARAENT ¢

At 31 March 2016, the Fund had capital commitments, so far as
not provided for in the financial statements, as stated below:

2016 2015

EEREMNEHEN
DEERBEBHAREN

Authorised and contracted for 493 101
Authorised but not contracted for 60 1,435
553 1,536

R Y TERDEBIE LM B A B 3R AR 75
HEMEERS cHBRAERNTIRS
o BBBAEHE (—EXAHE)
R2012FF 1MBRBEBMEEN "1
ARBREZFTE L (5H8) - =BV
2015F4 B30T MRMEESE &
EESHIREEFABIB2008BTH
KEBER - D8I RBEE - £
EEESCMFTERH187.68B T
(20154 1 140.18%7T) °

To help resolve billing disputes in deadlock between
telecommunications service providers and their customers
outside the judicial system, a voluntary Customer Complaint
Settlement Scheme (the scheme) was set up in November 2012
by the Communications Association of Hong Kong, the industry
association. By a Memorandum of Understanding signed on
30 April 2015, the Fund will provide recurrent funding for the
long term operation of the scheme in the amount not exceeding
HK$2,000,000 per annum. During the year, the Fund had
contributed HK$1,876,000 to the scheme (2015: HK$1,401,000).



OFFICE OF THE COMMUNICATIONS AUTHORITY  TRADING FUND REPORT 2015/16

Financial Statements

BRIk

B FS IR R EE Notes to the Financial Statements

(BR4ZRIZERES) » BT £ 881 LUBISFT(I%7 » ) (Amount expressed in thousands of Hong Kong dollars, unless otherwise
stated.)

21. BEATHIRS

21. Related party transactions

BREEMHEHREAS FRENZZ
HEBATERFEETHEMERER
DREWT -

(a) MBAEATRENREBERE
1,140.7&%7T (20154 : 1,143.6
BET) NWEAMEKERE W
WE - DIKHEE1,372.0887T
(20154 : 1,357.48%70) WE
IR AR ERFE

(b) EEBEATRENRESERAE
HMEREY  RENEES  EEE
BAAEEMEANIE - &8
ESpELRBFEHEZH2,290.08%
7t (20154F : 2,030.48#7T )
DS

(0 MBEALBESNEEEEBRER
BEREE  EHEEBES.IEE
It (20154 : i) o

FH A A IR SRR B A 1R AV AR
B MREAARER - BIRARE
XAIMSRBRWE - MZRFEIAEEA
TIRM - BIR2EEAWE - AEEA
THENETEEEZDMRANRE -

R2016F3 A3 1 HEBEEA TR ZNHE
HRESNEBRTRRA -

Apart from those separately disclosed in the financial statements,
the other material related party transactions for the year are
summarised as follows:

(@) fees income for services provided to related parties included
advisory and project services amounting to HK$11,407,000
(2015: HK$11,436,000) and frequency assignment and
protection services amounting to HK$13,720,000 (2015:
HK$13,574,000);

(b) expenses for services received from related parties included
accommodation, repairs and maintenance, legal advice, central
administration and auditing. In total, the Fund incurred
HK$22,900,000 on these services (2015: HK$20,304,000); and

(c) fixed assets acquired from related parties included furniture
and fixtures. The total amount for these assets amounted to
HK$983,000 (2015: nil).

Services provided by or to related parties were charged at the
rates payable by the general public where such services were also
available to members of the public, or on a full cost recovery basis
where such services were only available to related parties. Fixed
assets supplied by related parties were charged at full cost.

Balances with related parties as at 31 March 2016 are set out in the
statement of financial position.
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22. AR GETR

(a)

(b)

(@

BREHK

RIBHEIMNIAR » BEBHE
RENEMIANRKREES - RE
HEBREREFIMIIEESE
M BEESHRRTE  FBESHA
TENREERBRAKE -

B E

E¥ERESR TRNATFEIR
RIREI B G K S (B R E R
BRVER °

HREEESBARISH T ALY
LB EAEHEANE
TR -

EERR

EERREERIAN—SHEE
RARBEETEEMSIBS—HER
MFEREAR -

LERSNEERBRIEZTURANER
RER  SRITASR  SRATHESRAISMNER:
TR °

LEESRYERBRIRRNEE
[EBz - FEWIRSRIR B A AT UL E] P i
BRI EEFE  SEESSEDIR
AFEREDBEBIE °

REEREEERR - TERITHE
BN EREF I T RN B BAFE
SRAT -

22. Financial risk management

(a)

(b)

(9]

Investment policy

To provide an ancillary source of income, surplus cash is
invested in a portfolio of financial instruments. The portfolio
includes fixed deposits and placement with the Exchange
Fund. It is the Fund's policy that all investments in financial
instruments should be principal-protected.

Currency risk

Currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows
of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in
currency exchange rates.

The Fund does not have significant exposure to currency risk as
substantially all of its financial instruments are denominated in
Hong Kong dollars.

Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument
will fail to discharge an obligation and cause the other party to
incur a financial loss.

The Fund's credit risk is primarily attributable to debtors, bank
deposits, bank balances and placement with the Exchange
Fund.

The credit risk of debtors is closely monitored by the Fund.
Recoverability of debt items are assessed on an individual
basis and impairment losses are recognised when considered
necessary.

To minimise credit risks, all bank balances and fixed deposits
are placed with licensed banks in Hong Kong.
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22. IFFESER (/&)

(@

(d)

(e)

EEmk (#&)

ERNEESER  HEBEERA
B R o

LEESNEREENERREER
RESFNAERSHEREZEEN
RIEE

MENE & E g

nBESRRERBERTRS
HMEeEHENEERBERNEN
2R

CEESEBREAMENRESINER
MENLEESHRBES  KE
BERBESRER > HEARRALUEMLRT
BHHEENEANMNESFER - B
REBEESHERARBNABES -
HRBESRRKFER -

) 2= [ gz

MEERRIER T ZAREB M| 2
BENER - AXERAE S5
RAFENREARLRERENK
R -

AFENXREREEEBRTIENA
FEE RSN RS MK ENRIE
- ARNEEESHNAARITHE
RREEMNRFENE  BHhiS
MEEFE  BLEERNATFER
ST - R > ARELEFRIIR
B AEIR > HBANRESL
AEFEARMEMNESHRN K
&1

22. Financial risk management (continued)

(9]

(d)

(e)

Credit risk (continued)

For the placement with the Exchange Fund, the credit risk is
considered to be low.

The maximum exposure to credit risk of the financial assets of
the Fund is equal to their carrying amounts at the end of the
reporting period.

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that an entity will encounter difficulty in
meeting obligations associated with financial liabilities.

The Fund manages liquidity risk by forecasting the amount
of cash required and monitoring the working capital of the
Fund to ensure that all liabilities due and known funding
requirements could be met. As the Fund has a strong liquidity
position, it has a very low level of liquidity risk.

Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk refers to the risk of loss arising from changes
in market interest rates. This can be further classified into fair
value interest rate risk and cash flow interest rate risk.

Fair value interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value of a
financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market
interest rates. Since all of the Fund's bank deposits bear
interest at fixed rates, their fair values will fall when market
interest rates increase. However, as they are all stated at
amortised cost, changes in market interest rates will not affect

their carrying amounts and the Fund's profit and reserves.

TRADING FUND REPORT 2015/16
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stated.)

22. IFFESER (/&)

(e)

()

(9)

FRER ()

RERENXARZIEESMIAN
KRB SRNE SRS KEEM
KRENER - 2EESHMHAMNRES
MEMNXRERR/) > AEILEER
Y ERE -

E A EF 5 EL R

EEESRNEF 1 RBENIER
SHEREX (ME10) NESEM
FEEHTHERE - R20168E3831
H - 7£2015F12016F 89 B ZIE i1
S BAS0EEE (20154 : 5018
2E) MAMRZRZNERLT
hET EERFMEERL IR
365.48% 7T (20154 © 346.48
HBIT) ©

AT

EERMEXZNER TENAT
B RREERBEHERBHN
TEREEE - WRBZEMS
WE - AILERESNEMMEESD EZ
HEPHERBANTHRBERTEEA
FE -

eI AYDREANTVERS
HMEERAKRNSEAEFHIRTERA
Bl o

22. Financial risk management (continued)

(e)

()

(9

Interest rate risk (continued)

Cash flow interest rate risk is the risk that future cash flows
of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in
market interest rates. The Fund's exposure to cash flow interest
rate risk is small as it has no major floating-rate investments.

Other financial risk

The Fund is exposed to financial risk arising from changes in
the interest rate on the placement with the Exchange Fund
which is determined every January (note 10). It was estimated
that, as at 31 March 2016, a 50 basis point (2015: 50 basis
point) increase / decrease in the interest rates for 2015 and
2016, with all other variables held constant, would increase /
decrease the profit for the year and reserves by HK$3,654,000
(2015: HK$3,464,000).

Fair values

The fair values of financial instruments quoted in active markets
are based on their quoted prices at the end of the reporting
period. In the absence of such quoted market prices, fair
values are estimated using present value or other valuation
techniques, using inputs based on market conditions existing at

the end of the reporting period.

All financial instruments are stated in the statement of financial
position at amounts equal to or not materially different from
their fair values.
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23.BEHmEMREE20168F 23. Possible impact of amendments, new

35310 ILEEERERE
B8]« $FHERIRERERRT T A2
7

BEAMBHRERZEL A E5S0
NEEBRMLIEEL] ~ FTEARDZE -
HABEREE2016FE38310LEFE
HARER - TR BRAEAMBHRET
WERMBNEET ~ FERIRZE - ERE
BT AR EEESHFRANEE

standards and interpretations issued
but not yet effective for the year ended
31 March 2016

Up to the date of issue of these financial statements, the HKICPA
has issued a number of amendments, new standards and
interpretations which are not yet effective for the year ended 31
March 2016 and which have not been early adopted in these
financial statements. These include the following which may be

relevant to the Fund:

FLUT BEAS 2 4 BRI & SRR A 3L
Effective for accounting periods

beginning on or after

RV HREEAES: TERMTH,

BBEUBHREEAEH TREREFA
I o

HKFRS 9, Financial Instruments 2018 1H1H
1 January 2018

HKFRS 15, Revenue from 2018%F181H
contracts with customers 1 January 2018

CEESERZSFEBAT  MEALZE
EERERASEENEEENTEET
iHE - EEBRIRLE  SEESFHN
RN ZFER] » TEALRER
RAURSHEBEESHNYBERRENE

=73

|

The Fund is in the process of making an assessment of what the
impact of these amendments, new standards and interpretations
is expected to be in the period of initial adoption. So far it has
concluded that the adoption of them is unlikely to have a significant

impact on the Fund's financial statements.
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Appendlx A | Organisation Chart (as at 30 September 2016)
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Miss Eliza LEE
AN BT HREL

Director-General of Communications

LE 3k gan
Ms Elizabeth TAI
BAEBEREE (ER)
Deputy Director-General (Broadcasting)

[ [
BEEt FHERLT

]
FERLE
Miss Katy FONG Miss Natalie LI Mr Tony LI
BhEBHEEE BhEBAEES BNERARES
Assistant Director Assistant Director Assistant Director
EEEHIE EEEIEI ZiEE
Broadcasting Branch

Broadcasting Branch Support Branch
| |

|
{ 1 \ { { T T 1 T \
EREHER BEEER BREER2  ABHER BEH

g TREHRE  DHEBE  HEEERR ABEHE
Communications  Licence Licence Content Development Finance Administrative  Public Affairs ~ Consumer Internal Audit
Authority ~ Administration Administration  Regulation Division Division Services Division Affairs Division
Secretariat Division 1 Division 2 Division Division Division
Division

BREREE GRELE BREELL KEBEXL FEREE

EERat kit ERHRL et e
Mr William  Mr Edmond CHUI Miss Anissa CHAN Ms CHU Kar-lai

Mr Sammy LI Miss Ellen Miss Stephanie ~ Miss Diana FU ~ Ms Jamay WONG
CHAN BRREET BRREETH EREREET BRI WONG CHEUNG AEEBTE HEESHIE
BIBEE EHREE BRI BEET Chief Telecom BIRIE ity Head, Head,
Chief Executive  Principal Entertainment Principal Entertainment Principal Entertainment Engineer Head, Departmental Public Affairs Consumer Affairs
Officer Standards Control ~ Standards Control ~ Standards Control Finance Secretary
Oﬁ‘icer Of'f‘icer Oﬁ‘icer

| | |
BufEkt  sRBkt  hsggs | RRARE waGLt
Mr Jin";‘son CHAN  MsAnnall Mr"aarence Mr Dennis LEUNG ~ E#Ex+ Miss Eva CHENG
pEEmE  EERE) YUEN ignR o MsBYTSE  oyepe g
ativs aiis o JBERTHRE AR

Administration Administration  Content Regulation i S RREIE AdnS](ier:\ilsithtive
Section 11 Section 21 Section 1 Un&‘;!:g;ii'::&?:'c Section Section 1

WEBRL EFEEE o g FHEELL
Ms Connie LAM  Mr Bryant WONG M.ﬁf?’_ #iso Mﬁ'l'? ?cﬁeiw Mrﬂ':?@.ﬁism Miss Cecilia LI
MEEEE 2 MEEEE3 e oone ' s Yvonne

o = = THERE_ M
Licence Licence RRiRE2 . Eﬁ%ﬁﬁ?ﬁ‘ﬁ R Administrative
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e s Addy LAI P Ms Jenny YUNG
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Mr Danny LAU

RpEEXE
Mr Chaucer LEUNG

WA EHEIMEE (BH) HBERERS

Deputy Director-General (Telecommunications) Advisor to Director-General of Communications
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Mr Sanda CHEUK Mr C K CHENG Miss Elaine HUI
BNIRHEES BhIRiEES BPIRiEES
Assistant Director Assistant Director Assistant Director
B EIEEL HATER s REEEER

Regulatory Affairs Branch

|
[ [

\
aER

Operations Branch

Market & Competition Branch
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{ I
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BHEEEERSRE
Membership of Advisory Committees

Telecommunications Regulatory Affairs

(#F2016%3H31H) Advisory Committee (as at 31 March 2016)
Ea Chairman

RAELE Mr Chaucer LEUNG

BNEEEERNATENESREE (BH) Deputy Director-General (Telecommunications), OFCA

WE Secretary

SEEELE Mr Sanda CHEUK

BANEEEERNATHEMRE (REE) Assistant Director (Regulatory), OFCA

=B Members

BEREEL Dr Victor HUNG

HEEZEGNRK Representative of Consumer Council

I BE TR AT Ir Andy LAM

EELIEMEERE Representative of the Hong Kong Institution of Engineers
SHEEE Mr Y H SHUM

TITREBRZEFEBIERE Representative of the Institution of Engineering and Technology Hong Kong
BRERALSEE Mr Gilbert CHAN

BEEBAERERE Representative of Communications Association of Hong Kong
BEESSE Mr Billy YEUNG

BEERGREREENAX Representative of Hong Kong Wireless Technology Industry Association
FREEE Mr Andrew LEE

HicEBMERRRATNRE Representative of 21 Vianet Group Limited

BRR%EE Mr Alex CHENG

HEBESEBERATRE Representative of China Mobile Hong Kong Company Limited
REX %S Mr Karson NG

FEEEREERARREK Representative of China Telecom Global Limited

RIRE 4 Mr Sutton CHEUNG

FEER (5%8) BRATRE Representative of ComNet Telecom (HK) Limited

It @5t Mr Raphael HO

Equinix Hong Kong Limited 4% Representative of Equinix Hong Kong Limited

BEEEE A Mr K K LUK

RS REBARARRE Representative of HKC Network Limited

EEAEE Mr Charles YEUNG

BBREMEERATREK Representative of Hong Kong Broadband Network Limited
FTRE%SE Mr Simon YU

BEEERBEBRATRE Representative of Hong Kong Cable Television Limited
BRMmEE Mr Ken YIU

EERDBRBRERARNEK Representative of Hong Kong Mobile Television Network Limited
MEHEE Mr Peter LAM

Hong Kong Telecommunications (HKT) Limited /&
BFEBR/AT KHong Kong Telecommunications (HKT)

Limited /' Genius Brand Limited X3

Representative of Hong Kong Telecommunications (HKT) Limited / PCCW-HKT Telephone
Limited and Hong Kong Telecommunications (HKT) Limited / Genius Brand Limited

SREMEE
MLEFERAR AT RREAGRARDKEK

Mr William BROWN

Representative of Hutchison Global Communications Limited / Hutchison Telephone

Company Limited

REBEE
M ARBRERABDREK

Mr Kenneth NG
Representative of New World Telecommunications Limited

Mr Patrick NG
NTT Com Asia Limited {£3

Mr Patrick NG
Representative of NTT Com Asia Limited

MRMmEE
SmarTone Communications Limited /

BIHASMERATDNE

MrTLOR
Representative of SmarTone Communications Limited /
SmarTone Mobile Communications Limited

Mr Paul ABFALTER
Telstra International HK Limited K238 A 25 B B2
BRARRE

Mr Paul ABFALTER

Representative of Telstra International HK Limited and Telstra International Limited

BEEEL Mr H W NGAN
ARBEAEMBERATRE Representative of Towngas Telecommunications Fixed Network Limited
BISRELE Mr Kenneth LAU

TraxComm Limited X3

Representative of TraxComm Limited
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BRBIE &+
hEEMBRARNE

Ms Agnes TAN
Representative of Wharf T&T Limited

Mr Paul ABFALTER
HWHERRE BEEREREEEE (HIEE
AR5 ) FrREm R AN

Mr Paul ABFALTER
Representative of External FTNS / Fixed Carrier / Unified Carrier (External Fixed Services)
Licensees as a group

Mr Indarto NATA
BN E BRSSP R AR R

Mr Indarto NATA
Representative of Mobile Virtual Network Operators (MVNOs) as a group

ﬁhaﬁé'e'_{ Mr W M WONG
REETRBEMEAINRE Representative of Radio Paging Operators as a group
Ei%éé'ﬁ'_{ Mr Allen LAW
FRIZE PSR RIFE R BIR T Representative of Services-Based Operator (SBO) Licensees as a group
PRERA 4 Mr Stephen CHAN
N EMRBB LR R BIAR Representative of External Telecommunications Service (ETS) Operators as a group
BRBEE Mr Eric YEUNG
UNBI R ZER SR Representative of small and medium enterprises
HKEBEE Mr Fred LAM
BEREBREAE Representative of Hong Kong Police Force
PRIGEE 2+ Ms Eva CHAN
BEREEAT Member appointed on an ad personam basis
REERL Ms Y M CHEUNG
BEREEAT Member appointed on an ad personam basis
BEJEELE Mr York MOK
BEREEAT Member appointed on an ad personam basis
Dr Andrew SIMPSON Dr Andrew SIMPSON
BRIZEEAL Member appointed on an ad personam basis
reEt DrY XU
BRIZEEAL Member appointed on an ad personam basis

iR Eaiﬁﬁnjé)iﬁﬂ OF 2

Radio Spectrum and Technical Standards

ZHEE (éf§2016fﬁ3ﬁ315) Advisory Committee (as at 31 March 2016)
*E Chairman

g Mr CHENG Chi-keung

BANFEEEERRATEEMRE (B1T) Assistant Director (Operations), OFCA
mE Secretary
TIRSEE Mr TING Lap-hing

BANEEEERPIATSREN LR (JEERS) Senior Telecommunications Engineer (Spectrum Planning) , OFCA
%8 Members
EEESRE Mr Brian CHENG
HEEZEGNARX Representative of Consumer Council
ZFhEAS%E Mr Michael LEE
BREEBERMNEESE (BRE) % Representative of EU ICT Council in Hong Kong and Macau
RIFSELT Dr Lawrence CHEUNG

EREENRERNE

Representative of Hong Kong Productivity Council

FEATEAM - B
BRI RMBERK

Ir Dr CK LI
Representative of the Hong Kong Institution of Engineers

GRIFE TR - L

Ir Dr K F TSANG

TITREMEEEERESGRE Representative of the Institution of Engineering and Technology Hong Kong
FHEXRE Mr Keith LI

A BREFMEBARIARE Representative of local industry associations as a group

BRREE Mr Alex CHENG

FREBESEEERATRE Representative of China Mobile Hong Kong Company Limited

FLERELE Mr Kelvin HONG

ERRAEMBERATRE Representative of Hong Kong Broadband Network Limited

HRfMEE Mr Ken YIU

BERERBBRMESERATRE Representative of Hong Kong Mobile Television Network Limited

BRIk EE Mr S M SHUEN

Hong Kong Telecommunications (HKT) Limited /&%

BEAR/AR KHong Kong Telecommunications (HKT)

Limited /Genius Brand Limited X3

Representative of Hong Kong Telecommunications (HKT) Limited / PCCW-HKT Telephone
Limited and Hong Kong Telecommunications (HKT) Limited / Genius Brand Limited

BIfBR%E
MR BEERAR, M BREAGRARRE

Mr T M LAU
Representative of Hutchison Telephone Company Limited /
Hutchison Global Communications Limited
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Radio Spectrum and Technical Standards
Advisory Committee (continued)

REIBEE Mr Kenneth NG
WMHERBRAERARNRE Representative of New World Telecommunications Limited
Rt %L Mr Cyrus LAI

SmarTone Communications Limited /

B ASMARARNE

Representative of SmarTone Communications Limited /
SmarTone Mobile Communications Limited

BEREE Mr Bill YEUNG
NEBRERARNE Representative of Wharf T&T Limited
REN %S Mr Karson NG

A BT EERRBUFEE (BEFaEEXE
AUEREEE AMERENBERE (ERRE)
Fhgm ) RAAE

Representative of Licensees (Unified Carrier / Local Fixed Carrier / Local FTNS) not
providing domestic retail fixed services as a group

FLERSEE

FREATEERRBOTIEE (BFRFaEELE/
A EEFEE A E EEREERE (ERRH)
FhEm ) RAIRE

Mr H C HUNG
Representative of Licensees (Unified Carrier / Local Fixed Carrier / Local FTNS) not
providing domestic retail fixed services as a group

Ms YOON Mi Hong

NS EERRENSEE (BEReEEE
AEEFRE AMEEBANRERE (ERRS)
Fham ) el

Ms M H YOON
Representative of Licensees (Unified Carrier / Local Fixed Carrier / Local FTNS) not
providing domestic retail fixed services as a group

trEied Mr S C WONG
DMERBRATRE Representative of Asia Television Limited
FREGE Mr Simon YU
EREERERBBRATRE Representative of Hong Kong Cable Television Limited
KEBEE Mr Carlson CHU
BERBRERBRATRE Representative of PCCW Media Limited
REM e Mr Y C CHAN
BREFERAR MEREERARATAR Representative of Television Broadcasts Limited / TVB Network Vision Limited
e Mr Tim CHAN
BEBBISERBRATRE Representative of Digital Broadcasting Corporation Hong Kong Limited
MEHEELE Mr Paul LAM
BEEBEERBRATREK Representative of Hong Kong Commercial Broadcasting Company Limited
=/NREE Mr S M KO
FHERERARNE Representative of Metro Broadcast Corporation Limited
;B:ﬁ'?:_&._ Mr Francis KWOK
BEBEEANE Representative of Radio Television Hong Kong
BiHEHLt Ms Vicky WONG
NEEBRARNE Representative of Asia Satellite Telecommunications Company Limited
FRIg AL Mr X CHEN
APT Satellite Company Limited {{& Representative of APT Satellite Company Limited
LEREE Mr H C HUNG

HWHONEMIRE EEERE HRAGEE (HEE
B35 ) FEREERAINE

Representative of External FTNS / Fixed Carrier / Unified Carrier (External Fixed Services)

Licensees as a group

mEEEE Mr Barry NG

fRIZE MR BTSRRI ( REEREEE DR Representative of Services-Based Operators (MVNO and ETS operators only) as a group
S RN ERRBE ) K&K

EERLE Mr Johnny SIU

EMRMIRBERAIRE Representative of Amateur Radio Societies as a group
HEELE Mr Raymond WONG

KR ERBER IR Representative of Local Certification Bodies as a group

B EEE Mr L K YEUNG

BfigER*E Representative of Civil Aviation Department

FREXB L+ Ms Diana CHAN

BREEBEEAE Representative of Hong Kong Police Force

it Dr S M WONG

BRBABRE Representative of Independent Commission Against Corruption
BimExt Ms P Y NGAI

BRIZEEAL Member appointed on an ad personam basis
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EiMRFAPREES Telecommunications Users and Consumers
RENEE D (#F2016535310) Advisory Committee (as at 31 March 2016)
*FE Chairman

RMEELE Mr Chaucer LEUNG
BEFEERMAZSENSHAEE () Deputy Director-General (Telecommunications), OFCA

WE Secretary

HEELL Ms Jamay WONG

BB EERRATSEEESEELTE Head of Consumer Affairs, OFCA

=B Members

EHELt Ms June IP

HEBEEEEAR Representative of Consumer Council

EIEEE Mr Alex KUN

BEREAERERE Representative of Communications Association of Hong Kong
FRFFELRE Mr Watson CHAN

BEREEAR Representative of Hong Kong General Chamber of Commerce
HEEEL Dr Ken FONG

BEREENEEERE Representative of Hong Kong Wireless Technology Industry Association
BEEEE Mr Eric YEUNG

/NI ZER R Representative of small and medium enterprises

RiRBERL Ms Irene LEUNG

RERBAE Representative of the aged community

BIRSEE Mr B YU

FHEATRE Representative of the disabled community

BERSEAE Mr Anthony NGAN

SFEE ALK Representative of the disabled community

Bk B Mr W C CHEUNG

HBERRE Representative of Education Bureau

REBFRL Ms Martha LEUNG

NBATHE Representative as a member of the public

NEBRZT Ms Florence MAN

NMATHE Representative as a member of the public

EEREE Mr Daniel LO

NMALTHE Representative as a member of the public

BRmEEE Mr Thomas SUN

NMATHE Representative as a member of the public

FIRIBEE Mr C B WONG

NRMATHE Representative as a member of the public

EEpE=g gun Ms Pauline YUNG

NRATHRE Representative as a member of the public

BRILEE Mr Derek Emory YEUNG

NRATHRE Representative as a member of the public

FRIRIA L Ms Agnes CHAN

NRATHRE Representative as a member of the public

BEXEXL Ms Eva WONG

NRATHRER Representative as a member of the public

REELT Ms Cindy CHAN

DNRATHRE Representative as a member of the public

EfRELRE Mr K W MA

BAIEZEEAL Member appointed on an ad personam basis

HEREE Mr Kenny CHIU

EREEAL Member appointed on an ad personam basis
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Appendix C

7£2015, 165 F » HMERHI4ERBHH
EENBERBREER - 2016 17FEM
BRBRBERERRFIIANT -

BRMRENRBEKFEERE LB ERFK
BRREITHENTIFEXLE - TEREL
AE%E  BARSERBIILY TIRER
HRF ¢

ARFEHREE2016,717
Performance Pledge 2016/17

In 2015/16, we achieved/surpassed all performance targets in our 34 job
areas. The full list of our performance targets for 2016/17 are also set

out in the table below.

The level of service we provide is influenced to some extent by exceptional
circumstances and workloads during peak periods. The following table
takes these factors into account and sets out the standard service delivery

times we aim to achieve for a wide range of services.

2015/16% % 2015 /16 FERBERFEE | 2015/165E | 2016 /1 TEERERENE
BERERE (BIRBELENANE) ERTHRERE | HBRABRERRES)
Service Delivery Performance Target Actual Average | Service Delivery Standard
Standard (% meeting service standard) | Performance (Performance Target in Bracket)
for 2015/16 for 2015/16 in 2015/16 for 2016/17

RRIREIBAR IS hA PR R AR

AR B AN B ARES,E A EERE
BRE B R

Non-domestic Television Programme
Service/Other Licensable Television
Programme Service

RRIZ ARSI R EE

BENEIRBA TR

Mobile Radio System Licence

Processing of Broadcasting Service Licence Applications

2R

months

Processing of Telecommunications Service Licence Applications

i3 REES

No new case

wows (100%)

BaYEES i 38 BIfEX

working days

Establishment of a new system

98% 100% 38

(98%)

RS s 325 9% 100% 328 (98%)
IEGEEIE =)
Addition of mobile station
Egifﬁns of taxis fv%k{?grédays 99% 100% {v%jﬁédays (99%)
e vttty 99% 100%  8iisws (99%)

For other stations

FHMBEERRY

Replacement of mobile station equipment
Egifﬁns of taxis vf%olrlgfwagi days 99 % 1 00 % {V\EIOII’II’I?QE days (99 %)
b E&Eﬁ? days 99 % 1 00 % {v%olrlﬁagi days (99 %)

For other stations

BIRBEMBEEN

Replacement of base station equipment

EIfEX
working days

ERN(FS
working days

99% 100% (99%)
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RRIZERIFHAIREAEE ()

Processing of Telecommunications Service Licence Applications (continued)

BEMEIRBR TR (1F)

2015/165§ 2015/ 165 EMBEXREE  2015/165E | 2016/ 17EEELRIEZHM

BEREEE (E3BBEENENE) ERTURERE (BRAARBRRER)

Service Delivery Performance Target Actual Average | Service Delivery Standard

Standard for 2015/16 | (% meeting service standard) | Performance (Performance Target in Bracket)
for 2015/16 in 2015/16 for 2016/17

Mobile Radio System Licence (continued)

iiéé#ffﬁcence E&Jﬁé days 99 % 1 00 % {v%olrlflﬁni days (99 %)
HIRB R EIfEX BIfEX

Radio Dealers Licence

working days

99%

100%

working days

(99%)

T RELEBEEFETHERER
Industrial Scientific and Medical
Electronic Machines Licence

GRS

working days

99%

100%

ERN(FS

working days

(99%)

EARERENIES ~ IREBAEE
R EERE R

Radio Determination and
Conveyance of Commands,
Status and Data Licence

BIfEX

working days

99%

100%

BIfEX

working days

(99%)

BEBELRARBRER
Satellite Master Antenna
Television Licence

1 1 ERR(FS

working days

98%

100%

1 1 BIfER

working days

(98%)

?:E ?ti}f r/ljﬁLicence vf%olrlgfwagi days 99 % 1 00 % {V\EIOII‘II’I?QE days (99 %)
¥(HRBERE BIfEX BIfX

Amateur Station Licence

working days

99%

100%

working days

(99%)

BREINEMARTER
Self-provided External
Telecommunications
System Licence

2 [ERR(FS

working days

99%

HEHEE

No new case

2 BIfX

working days

(99%)

F—RENEERBEMREER
Services-based Operator Licence
— Class 1 and Class 2 Services

1 [ERR(FS

working days

98%

100%

1 ERN(FS

working days

(98%)

E=HERBE R AR
Services-based Operator Licence
— Class 3 Services

1 3 E&gﬁé days

99%

|5 CBEE - BEMNEIMREBBRE LK) RIPZAERRZHHA

100%

1 3 {v%c}lflﬁnagi days

(99%)

Processing of Certificate and Endorsement Applications under the International Convention on Standards of
Training, Certification and Watchkeeping for Seafarers (STCW Convention)

2 BRI EZE R KBRS
LT

Global Maritime Distress

and Safety System (GMDSS)
Certificate and Endorsement

IR
working days

95%

100%

EIEX
working days

(95%)

2B LBRNZE2AREE
ERERELERR

GMDSS Certificate of Equivalent
Competency and Endorsement

BIfX
working days

95%

100%

BIfEX
working days

(95%)
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2015/165§ 2015/ 16EEMBEXREE  2015/165E | 2016/ 17EEELRIEIHM
BEREEE (ERRBREMNENE) ERTORBERE  (BEARRBRERER)
Service Delivery Performance Target Actual Average | Service Delivery Standard
Standard (% meeting service standard) | Performance (Performance Target in Bracket)
for 2015/16 for 2015/16 in 2015/16 for 2016/17

BRETERE

Investigation of Radio Interference

HEERENWTIE
Interference on
commercial services

& s
Investigation f ELfERRETHE
within M working days

96%

100%

EBLERRERAE (0~
Investigati ithi
rsizimgon (96%)

HERRBHTE

Interference on

Investigatig% BIfXAETRE

96%

100%

SREITIATEE (gcyr)

within «/ working days 9 working days

broadcasting services

BRIRSRNSRERS AR

Processing of Applications for Numbers/Codes

BRSNS LB

Assignment of 1
telecommunications

numbers and codes

BIEX

working days

ERN(FS

100% 100% 8w (90%)"

BIZ -~ RENFEWA[ENER
SRS

Checking, processing and
acceptance of return of
telecommunications numbers

1 BIfEX

working days

100% 100% 1005555 (100%)

RIZERIREEN (El (HIRMED) 56) ~ (EREGD)  (BEUEGI) SBIIAS - EREMIRGEREGES
BEREBFRINEREERSF (BT (ERIEO) BRFESAVRRERI)

Handling of Complaints about Broadcasting Matters involving Suspected Breach of the Broadcasting

(Miscellaneous Provisions) Ordinance, the Broadcasting Ordinance, Part IlIA of the Telecommunications
Ordinance, the terms or conditions of a Broadcasting Licence, or the Broadcasting Codes of Practice (except
for complaints relating to Competition Provisions of the Broadcasting Ordinance)

RTINS EE
Issue of an interim reply

BIfX
working days

BIfEX
working days

98% 100% (98%)

MEBAERERBARFARE
RO (HMAKBEELER AR

B AREEE)
of cses not mvohing an Suess 98% 100% 3% (98%)

investigation ™ * (or report of
progress to the complainant if
results of cases are not ready)

A BRI ER A TR B S0 R EEET -

Note A Upon receipt of sufficient information from complainants.

+ 2016 M7TEER » RIERERSHEBREBNRERREBZEHT0EIER(00%)MAZESMEITIER(0%)
Starting from 2016/17, the performance target for handling assignment of telecommunications numbers and codes has been
slightly adjusted from 10 working days (100%) to 8 working days (90%).
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2015 /165 E 2015 /16 EERMBRHFBE | 2015/16FE | 2016 /1 TEEELRERD

BEREEE (ERRBREMNENE) ERTORBERE  (BEARRBREER)
Service Delivery Performance Target Actual Average | Service Delivery Standard
Standard (% meeting service standard) | Performance (Performance Target in Bracket)
for 2015/16 for 2015/16 in 2015/16 for 2016/17

RIZBARMREEENR (EE (MR RE0) « (EHBEGD ~ (EFUEGD) FBINAS - FEERERIGTREESE
BEREBTRNEREERS (BT (ERE6) MPFECORHFEIN) (B)

Handling of Complaints about Broadcasting Matters involving Suspected Breach of the Broadcasting

(Miscellaneous Provisions) Ordinance, the Broadcasting Ordinance, Part IlIA of the Telecommunications
Ordinance, the terms or conditions of a Broadcasting Licence, or the Broadcasting Codes of Practice (except
for complaints relating to Competition Provisions of the Broadcasting Ordinance) (continued)

HEETEHBHERFBA
KIFABBEENEHEERER (B
BB ER Y (KRB BB
HIFR - Bl ATREERE )
Inform complainants of the o o
Communications Authority Eeifg 98% 997 % E‘:?g (98%)
(CA)'s decision on complaints
involving a straightforward
investigation ™** (or report of
progress to the complainant if
CA's decision is not ready)

BB TE A TR B
B AEBRBENRFHR Y (%
mAREBABNIOR » AlAEFF
ARREER)

Inform complainants of the CA's B 0 0 &R 0
decision on complaints involving months 98 A) 100 A) months (98 A))

(Note A)

a complex investigation
(or report of progress to the
complainant if CA's decision is
not ready)

RIEEREEMENDREER (EAEM) HEMREHBEEGFEESIRR
Handling of Consumer Complaints against Telecommunications Operators involving Suspected Breach of the
Telecommunications Ordinance or Licence Conditions of the Telecommunications Service Licences

LIRS A (SRanReEREH
O AR TH5EE)

Full reply to complainant (or
interim reply if full reply is not
ready)

2 IR

working days

90% 100% 27 %55 (90%)

RRIBSTHE MR T (EAUEG) BMF RN ARSI MERMEIT ARME AR

Handling of Complaints against Operators relating to Competition Provisions or Misleading or Deceptive
Conduct Provisions of the Telecommunications Ordinance

THRAE (HAARTHAE Al

MIEFARESERE) fl %4%%%52 # il %n%ﬁﬁ;% i
Completlonfof |nvest|gat|(:]n Within 2 forther 80% Nﬂg%ﬂﬁi Within a further (80%)
(or report ot progress to the 4-month period after 4-month period after
complainant if investigation is  preliminary investigation preliminary investigation

not completed)

FHA  HUWEEREF AFTREESBE RIS -

Note A Upon receipt of sufficient information from complainants.
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BHEREERRAE 201516 FEEESRES

2015 /165 2015 /16 EERMBERHFBE | 2015/16FE | 2016 /1 TEEELRERE

BEREEE (ERRBREMNENE) ERTORBERE  (BEARRBRERER)
Service Delivery Performance Target Actual Average | Service Delivery Standard
Standard (% meeting service standard) | Performance (Performance Target in Bracket)
for 2015/16 for 2015/16 in 2015/16 for 2016/17

RIZEREMEREER (BAEM) NEMMBEREEFAZETIRHF (BF (EFEL) HmFHEXMERE M
B ERBR 1T A RO SCAY IR ERBR I )

Handling of Industry Complaints against Operators (except for complaints relating to Competition Provisions

and Misleading or Deceptive Conduct Provisions of the Telecommunications Ordinance) involving Suspected
Breach of the Telecommunications Ordinance or Licence Conditions of the Telecommunications Services
Licences

EREIIEE (UMK
A - AERHARSERE)

. . . . Within Within
Completion of full investigation THE b HES THE
(or report of progress to the 4 Eorlj’igng anys 90% No new case 4 1v%orlgﬁng |Z‘ays (90%)

complainant if full investigation
is not completed)

RIZERREER GFEASTFHEMEM) rBR

Handling of Reports on Suspected Contravention of the Unsolicited Electronic Messages Ordinance

ST (AR
AE - BIMERFARSER )
Completion of full investigation 5 54

(or report of progress to the 1 vf%eielffw 90% 99.9% 1 E;kfl?‘l (90%)
complainant if full investigation
is not completed)

Within Within

HERMBMPRFNAREH R FFEHEE

Reply to Public Enquiries and Complaints of OFCA’s Services

AHIEEER (SRARAEIRALRT

MeE - TS EE) Within Within
Full reply for enquiries (or EIfERA 0 0 BIfFRA 0
interim reply if full reply cannot working days 90 A’ 1 00 /0 working days (90 /0)

be provided)

SR ERT (SRR
FE - BIAEFARSES) " "
Within Within

Full reply for complaints (or

ot e ABEI 0% 100% | 15%0%, (90%)
complainant if full investigation
is not completed)
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MRER R B RIS

Licences Issued and Renewed

Broadcasting and Telecommunications Licences

Issued / Renewed and Revenue Collected

(For the year ended 31 March 2016)

EEhE fERA 8 E
No. of Licences
Issued / Renewed

Type of Licences

Broadcasting Licences

Domestic Free Television Programme Service 3
Domestic Pay Television Programme Service 3
Non-domestic Television Programme Service 18
Other Licensable Television Programme Service 24
Sound Broadcasting 4

Telecommunications Licences / Permits / Certificates

Academic Institution Self-provided 2
Telecommunications Installation
Aeronautical VHF Fixed Station 30
Aircraft Station 347
Amateur ATO 589
Amateur Station 2612
Broadcast Radio Relay Station 14
Duplicate Licence 90
Examination & Issue of Certificate 636
Experimental Station 90
Fixed Internal / External Services (including for 51
Transmission of Television Programme)
Hotel Television (Transmission) 149
Import/Export Permit 1207
Industrial, Scientific & Medical Electronic Machine 976
Mobile Radio System or Private Mobile 4233
Radio System
Mobile Services 9
Private Radio Paging System 12
Public Radiocommunications Service 9
Radio Dealers (Unrestricted) 3194
Radiocommunications School 7

Radiodetermination and Conveyance of Commands, 187
Status and Data

Satellite Master Antenna Television 71
Self-provided External Telecommunications System 9
Services-based Operator of Class 1 or 2 Service 19
Services-based Operator of Class 3 Service 510
Ship Station 3522
Space Station Carrier 10
Taxi Radiocommunications Service 26
Wide Band Link & Relay Station 56
Total 18719

20,901,720
11,405,794
1,083,624
923,850
18,308,619

7,000

49,750
54,163
94,400
396,138
10,250
4,950
123,520
27,650
131,692,515

612,829
181,050
79,906
32,818,520

181,098,958
94,463
1,767,592
4,775,625
2,100
152,140

5,140,550
6,875
1,191,156
14,228,055
512,738
1,749,833
601,567
127,200

430,225,100
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BASHEERNRLAE
OFFICE OF THE
— COMMUNICATIONS AUTHORITY

BAEHEERMAE
Office of the Communications Authority

it Address . BAEFERRER213FRABARE29E
29/F Wu Chung House, 213 Queen’s Road East
Wan Chai, Hong Kong

BEFRELE Enquiry Hotline : 2961 6333
fE4E Website . www.ofca.gov.hk



